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[Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District - Annual Report - FY2021-2022] 
 
 

Resolution receiving and approving an Annual Report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-2022, submitted as required by the 

Property and Business Improvement District Law of 1994 (California Streets and 

Highways Code, Sections 36600, et seq.), Section 36650, and the District’s management 

agreement with the City, Section 3.4. 

 

WHEREAS, On September 28, 2010, pursuant to the Property and Business 

Improvement District Law of 1994 (the “Act”), California Streets and Highways Code, Sections 

36600 et seq., as augmented by Article 15 of the San Francisco Business and Tax 

Regulations Code, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution No. 437-10, expressing the 

City’s intention to establish the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District (the “Ocean 

Avenue CBD”); and 

WHEREAS, On December 14, 2010, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution  

No. 587-10 establishing the Ocean Avenue CBD ("Resolution to Establish") for a period of 15 

years, commencing FY 2010-2011; and 

WHEREAS, On May 24, 2011, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution  

No. 221-11, authorizing an agreement with the owners' association for the 

administration/management of the Ocean Avenue CBD, and a management agreement (the 

“Management Contract”) with the owners' association, the Ocean Avenue Association, was 

executed accordingly; and 

WHEREAS, A copy of the Management Contract is on file with the Clerk of the Board 

of Supervisors in File No. 110438 and 
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WHEREAS, On November 29, 2022, the Board of Supervisors approved the Ocean 

Avenue CBD’s annual reports for fiscal year 2020-2021 in Resolution No. 503-22; and 

WHEREAS, The Ocean Avenue CBD has submitted for the Board’s receipt and 

approval the annual report for fiscal year 2021-2022 as required by Section 36650 of the Act 

and Section 3.4 of the Management Contract; and 

WHEREAS, The annual report for fiscal year 2021-2022 is on file with the Clerk of the 

Board of Supervisors in File No. 230841, and is incorporated herein by reference as though 

fully set forth; and 

WHEREAS, Supporting documents, including, but not limited to, a transmittal letter and 

memorandum report from the City's Office of Economic and Workforce Development, dated 

July 10, 2023, and documentation from the Ocean Avenue CBD for the fiscal year 2021-2022 

annual report are on file with the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors in File No. 230841; now, 

therefore, be it 

RESOLVED, That the Board of Supervisors hereby receives and approves the annual 

report for the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District for fiscal year 2021-2022. 
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Part 1. The Year in Review

A change in management comes with a period of transition to get all the gears in place. So, at the beginning  
of Fiscal Year 2021-2022 (FY 21/22), the Ocean Avenue Association (OAA) reviewed and updated different  
contracts, closed old grants, and checked on what was needed for other open grants with the guidance of  
government agencies.  

The next step was making sure Ocean Avenue was clean and graffiti free. Cleanscapes, our main contractor in 
charge of sweeping, power washing and graffiti cover-up handled critical areas such as overflowing trash cans,  
areas with dead leaves and/or dirt. Graffiti was approached aggressively by alerting the staff promptly as soon  
as it was noticed and ensuring removal. This included small tags anywhere, destructive tags on a mural, or  
buildings covered entirely overnight. These efforts resulted in making Ocean Avenue a lot more welcoming. 

We looked at the location of trash cans and noticed many absent for blocks, including blocks with presence of  
food/drink establishments. After months of work with the Dept. of Public Works (DPW), we were able to add five 
trash cans at critical locations.  

Improving safety: from 2016 and 2018, there were three traffic fatalities on Ocean Avenue in addition to other 
accidents. Biking on Ocean Avenue or pedestrians crossing Ocean at Granada for example can be dreadful. When 
City Hall voted to reduce the vehicle speed limit from 25 to 20 MPH, OAA started an awareness campaign before 
the official street signs were up. Our “Respect New 20 MPH on Ocean Avenue” prints were posted on windows 
of businesses, and our posters appeared on social media with politicians and law enforcement officers. Volunteers 
from Lick-Wilmerding High School also enjoyed a day of making lots of noise to make drivers aware of the new 
speed limit. OAA’s message was clear: while police enforcement has not been around lately, do we really need the 
presence of patrol & punishment to understand that cars need to slow down on this busy business corridor? 

In terms of marketing, we developed and participated in a series of events to bring neighbors to Ocean Avenue – 
please see the list in Part 3.d. Our email, social media and direct mail campaigns were used aggressively to bring 
neighbors to the Avenue and sponsor Ocean Avenue businesses.

During FY 21/22, we witnessed many new businesses moving in (see Part 3.c.) and a reduction of available  
inventory. Yes, Ocean Avenue is coming back after a cruel pandemic, and is gearing toward a new solid year  
ready for the next step in growth with the building of 1,100 units at the Balboa Reservoir and other units coming 
later at the 1601-1633 Ocean Avenue and at the new El Rey Theatre. Then, with the renewal and expansion of our  
Community Benefit District, Ocean Avenue will increase its strength for additional government funding to be even 
more proficient. 

Ocean Avenue’s future is very promising! 
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Part 2. Budget – Description & Goals

A.	 Assessment Methodology
The FY 21/22 assessment budget was $345,014. There are no proposed changes in the boundaries of the benefit 
district, or in any benefit zones, or classification of property or businesses within the district.  The method and 
basis of levying the assessment to allow each real property or business owner to estimate the amount of the as-
sessment to be levied against his or her property for this fiscal year is presented below. The income amount from 
grants received for FY 21/22 is $123,789. 

Zone 1
FY 21/22  
$ / Unit Unit

Commercial, Residential, Public Uses, and Phelan Loop Parcel $33.24 Linear Street Foot

Non-Profit Service Organization & Religious Institutional Uses $26.56 Linear Street Foot
Commercial Property Use 0.1404 Building Sq. Foot
Commercial Property Use 0.0349 Lot Square Foot
Phelan Loop Corner Landscaped Parcel 1.66 Lot Square Foot
Phelan Parcels Fronting and Accessed off of Unity Plaza 0.0726 Lot Square Foot

Zone 2  
Educational Institutional Property Use and Public Property Use  $17.58  Linear Street Foot

 
NOTES: 	 i. The current assessment methodology for commercial property consists of three components: 
		   
		  1. Linear Street Frontage X Rate per Linear Street Foot, plus 
		  2. Lot Square Footage X Rate per Lot Square Foot, plus 
		  3. Building Square Footage X Rate per Building Square Foot. 
 
	 ii. The rates for FY 21/22 increased by 1.6%. 
 

B.	 Budget Analysis
o	 Original Management Plan September 2010 – Budget 

Service Category $ Amount Percentage
Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety Program $125,000 51.65%

Marketing, Streetscape Improvements and Beautification Program $43,658 18.04%

Management and Operations $63,000 26.03%
Contingency and Reserves $10,340 4.28%
Total Budget $241,998 100%
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o	 Fiscal Year 21/22 Budget 

Budget Description  
(Management Plan) 
From Assessment Sources

Goal % of Total 
Budget

FY 21/22 
Budget

FY 2021/22 
% of Budget

FY 21/22 
Actuals

2021/22  
Actual % of 

total
Cleaning, Maintenance, and 
Safety Program

52% $192,155 45.03% $190,882 55.56%

Marketing, Streetscape  
Improvements, and  
Beautification Program

18% $88,945 20.85% $41,380 12.05%

Management and 
Operations

26% $130,560 30.60% $111,255 32.39%

Contingency and Reserves 4% $15,000 3.52% - -
    Total Budget 100% $426,660 100% $343,517 100%

  

FY 21/22 ActualFY 21/22 BudgetMgnt. Plan Goals

 

Annual Revenue % of Total Annual 
Rev. (Mgmt. Plan)

FY 21/22 
Rev. Budget

% of 
Budget 

21/22 Rev. 
Actual

% of  
Actual

                Assessment Revenue 99% $385,581 65.62% $350,143 73.58%

Other Revenue (grants, donations, 
and fees for service contracts and 
in-kind donations)

 
1%

 
$201,988

 
34.38%

 
$125,717

 
26.42%

 Total 2020/21 Annual Revenue 100% $587,569 100% $475,860 100%

 

4



5

Other Revenue Non-Assessments Services Category FY 21/22 Budget FY 21/22 Funded
Grant CDBG Mngnt. & Operations $40,000 $33,333
Historic Preservation Grant 20-21 Mktg. & Beautification $4,460 $4,690
OEWD/RFP212 Mngnt. & Operations $150,000 $80,416
SFAC Ocean Avenue Mural Fund Mktg. & Beautification $3,850 $3,850
SF Shines Grant 21-22 Mktg. & Beautification $1,500 $1,500
Other misc. revenue Mktg. & Beautification $2,178 $1,928
Total non-Assessment $201,988 $125,717

o	 Comparing Totals FY 21/22 Budget

Service Category Assessment  
$

% of Budget 
from Assessment 

Non- 
Assessment $

% of Budget 
from Non- 
Assessment

Total 
Amount 

$

% of  
Total Budget

Cleaning, Maintenance & 
Safety Program

$192,155 45.03% - - $192,155 30.57%

Marketing, Streetscape 
Improvements &  
Beautification Program

$88,945 20.85% $11,988 5.94% $100,933 16.05%

Management &  
Operations

$130,560 30.60% $190,000 94.06% $320,560 50.99%

Contingency & Reserves $15,000 3.52% - - $15,000 2.39%
Total Budget $426,660 100% $201,988 100% $628,648 100%

 

o	 Comparing Totals FY 21/22 Actual

Service Category Assessment  
$

% of Budget  
from Assessment 

Non- 
Assessment $

% of Budget 
from Non- 
Assessment

Total  
Amount  

$

% of  
Total Budget

Cleaning, Maintenance & 
Safety Program

$190,882 55.56% - - $190,882 40.68%

Marketing, Streetscape 
Improvements &  
Beautification Program

$41,380 12.05% $11,968 9.52% $53,348 11.37%

Management &  
Operations

$111,255 32.39% $113,749 90.48% $225,004 47.95%

Contingency & Reserves - - - - - -
Total Budget $343,517 100% $125,717 100% $469,234 100%

 
Here are benchmarks that the Ocean Avenue Association has met:

1.	 Benchmark 1 – The variance between the budget amounts for each service category is within 10  
percentage points from the management plan. 

2.	 Benchmark 2 – OAA met its non-assessment revenue source requirement. 

3.	 Benchmark 3 - The variance between the budget amounts for each service category is within 10  
percentage points from the actuals. 

4.	 Benchmark 4 - OAA is indicating the amount of funds carried over from the current fiscal year and  
designating projects to be spent in the upcoming fiscal year.  
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Part 3. Fulfilling Our Mission

A.	 Cleaning, Maintenance and Safety
Cleaning-Graffiti Data:

Trash Collected: 25,000 lbs. 

Graffiti cleaned-up: 1,300 occurrences

Blocks power washed: 200

#311 Calls (big items removal):  340

Palm Trees Cleaned: 50

Other Trees Thinning: +/- 40

Feces cleaning: 600

Needles: not enough data.

·	 CLEANING: A clean Ocean Avenue is essential… 

o	 We noticed an increase in trash along Ocean Avenue. This could have been due to the return of  
students to local schools, the removal of some trash cans by the Dept of Public Works and the more 
frequent appearance of unhoused individuals. Therefore, more time and effort were spent to guide  
the OAA cleaning crew around the most affected areas.  

o	 In September 2021, OAA cleaning contract with Cleanscapes was entirely reviewed, updated and 
signed. While keeping the cost fixed, we obtained additional services, such as an increase in  
frequency of the steam cleaning of sidewalks from twice annually to quarterly.

o	 Neighbors on the west and the east side of Ocean Avenue volunteered to cleaning up their block 
adjacent to Ocean Avenue. We connected them with the Adopt-A-Street program for the DPW who 
supplied them with a selection of tools and paint.

·	 GRAFFITI:  Removing graffiti has to be quick…

o	 Graffiti vandals have been around for a long time and sadly their actions are costing lots of time for 
our cleaning crew.

o	 As soon as we noticed graffiti, the cleaning crew was dispatched to remove it; e.g., we heard of the  
old CVS and Target stores covered with graffiti at noon on a Friday and we were able to have it 
cleaned up for the weekend.

o	 Usually, murals are off territory for graffiti destruction. Unfortunately, our murals were also attacked 
by vandals. We worked with the original artists to restore their masterpieces. 
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o	 The vacant building at 1601 Ocean was found on a Friday morning covered entirely by graffiti from 
left to right. The crew moved immediately to entirely clean the building by the end of the day.  

o	 The CCSF sign on Ocean Avenue was tagged overnight; the graffiti was removed by 8 a.m. on the 
same day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

·	 MAINTENANCE:  Keeping the plants and trees healthy…

o	 OAA maintenance crew handles planting new shrubs & trimming overgrown 
ones, removal of weeds & trash from green areas, repairing watering systems, etc. 

o	 Tree maintenance has been the responsibility of the Dept of Public Works since 
2017. The plan to handle all City trees was affected with the COVID-19 pandemic 
due to the lack of staff.  On the Avenue, we could not wait indefinitely:

• OAA handled the thinning of small trees to better resist rain & wind load. 

• OAA hired Arborists Now to clean up dead palms on palm trees.

• OAA worked for at least 8 months with DPW to replace the trees lost in  
   storms to be told in mid-June that they no longer will handle it due to new  
   laws in the books. For FY 22/23, OAA is scheduled to replace fallen trees 
   and upgrade the planting areas. 
 
 

·	 SAFETY: Improve safety through awareness…

o	 Since 2016, Ocean Avenue has seen a few casualties in  
addition to other accidents. Governor Newsom signed  
the AB43 in October 2021, providing authorization for local  
authorities to reduce the speed limit by 5 mph by ordinance.  
Soon after, San Francisco adopted the reduction by 
5 MPH along Ocean Avenue.

o	 OAA promptly started a public campaign to promote the new  
20 MPH speed limit by passing window signs to businesses, stickers to kids, and posing at events  
with posters promoting the new speed limit of 20 MPH.  OAA also organized a volunteer day with 
students from Lick-Wilmerding High School at the corner of Ocean & Granada to make noise  
bearing signs to ask drivers to respect the new speed limit. In April 2022, official 20 MPH signs went 
up prominently throughout the Ocean Avenue business area. The new speed limit will help improve 
safety.

o	 All intersections on the Ocean Avenue business corridor have a traffic light signal except at Granada. 
OAA collected about 400 signatures asking our district supervisor to install a STOP sign on Ocean 
at Granada Avenue. 
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B.	 Marketing, Streetscape Improvement and Beautification
·	 MARKETING: Know our businesses & strategize…

o	 Who are the businesses: OAA developed a database of all businesses, and produced the  
Ocean Avenue Business Directory that can be found at multiple locations on Ocean Avenue,  
including the Ingleside Public Library, and has been distributed at all events where OAA  
participated. A digital copy is also at OAACBD.org. A 5,000 Business Directory direct mail  
campaign in surrounding neighborhoods is scheduled for August 2022. A survey will be conducted 
to measure the efficiency of this campaign. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o	 Email Marketing: OAA has increased its email list by 38% during the FY 21/22. Emails with  
Community Updates are sent out 2 to 3 times monthly for announcements happening on  
Ocean Avenue or in the neighborhood, and with information important for neighbors or business 
owners.

o	 Social Media Marketing: OAA is active on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram.  Posting happened  
2 to 3 times weekly. In FY 21/22, we showed a 300% increase in Instagram followers telling us that 
a young audience is very involved on Ocean Avenue. Social media will definitely be enhanced in FY 
22/23.

o	 Since August 2021, at each monthly Board Meeting, we report all results of social media followers. 
Online tools showed an average increase of 40% in Email/Facebook/Twitter/Instagram for FY 21/22. 
This is a way to measure our online growth. FY 22/23 will continue the work started to bring more 
neighbors to Ocean Avenue. 
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·	 STREETSCAPE IMPROVEMENT and BEAUTIFICATION: Improving the appearances…

o	 1601-1633 Ocean Avenue: This block has been an issue for the past 8+ years. In 2019, environmental 
hazards were detected in the soil and the air within some of the buildings. The OAA was  
particularly concerned:  this location is central on Ocean Avenue and include two Legacy businesses. 
The property owner TJ Development wishes to sell these properties to Global Premier Development, 
but the sale cannot proceed until the environmental conditions are remediated. TJ Development has 
not proceeded with the clean-up resulting in a stand-still. We hope the City Supervisor’s office and 
the California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) working together will resolve this 
status soon. Sadly, Chase Bank moved out from 1649 Ocean Avenue  
due to unsafe environmental conditions. 

o	 Mural on NEMS building (1441 Ocean): Thanks to a grant  
from Paint the Void, a free temporary artwork was painted  
by artist Andrea Perreira on the front of this property in  
January 2022. This mural was the artist’s representation of  
today’s pharmacy, as it will soon be one.

o	 Holiday Decorations: Bows were installed on all palm trees  
of the district at the end of November 2021 giving a  
cheerful Holiday welcome to the visitors. To increase the  
exposure of the decorations and bring additional traffic to  
the Avenue, OAA developed a Photo Contest using the bow 
as the focus. The winner won a $100 Gift Certificate from  
Whole Foods Market. 

o	 Unity Plaza: OAA worked with the property owner SFMTA  
to regularly steam clean the plaza. OAA also worked with their team to keep up the landscape 
around the plaza. SFMTA is now maintaining the plaza and the planting area around in much  
better shape. Community clean-ups work well, but regular thorough maintenance is needed for this 
great plaza.

o	 Palm Trees: DPW is in charge of keeping all trees on San Francisco streets in good order. However, 
it may take years to have some trees cleaned up. Therefore, the OAA Board approved the clearing 
of the dead palms on the palm trees along Ocean Avenue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o	 Trash Cans: Four trash cans were added at critical locations. A fifth one is scheduled for installation 
in July and it will be one of the new prototypes of DPW. Trash cans help keep Ocean Avenue clean.

o	 Shared Spaces: The Shared Spaces program started during the Pandemic is going through changes. 
Businesses with parklets were invited to a town hall meeting to hear the new City requirements. We 
should see some changes in FY 22/23. 
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C.	 Business Assistance 
 
The OAA staff is dedicated to assisting all businesses and property owners on Ocean Avenue. On their weekly  
visits, they listen to the needs of each business and search for answers to any problem that arise. They also 
spend time in welcoming new businesses as soon as a location remodel starts and when their doors first open  
for business. This FY 21/22 has been particularly busy as many issues came up and the OAA staff needed to  
navigate through the different City Departments to obtain solutions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                   A1 Bakery staff with E.D Pierre Smit

·	 Vandalism Relief Grant: 

Ocean Avenue businesses have endured a series of window breaking and robberies. OAA has diligently  
encouraged businesses to apply for the Vandalism Relief Grant. An instruction pamphlet was designed 
in English/Chinese to help affected businesses. Many filed for this grant in FY 21/22 for a total of about 
$26,000. After the August 2021 arrest of an individual who was responsible for a string of vandalism  
targeting Asian owned businesses, the window breaking stopped.  Then, starting in April 2022, once again 
many merchants have been vandalized and new funds from the Vandalism Relief Grant have been  
requested with the assistance of OAA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

·	 ADA Requirements: 

OAA is working with the Office of Small Business to resolve some ADA issues with retail stores needing  
to update their entrance and qualify for grants. This work will continue in FY 22/23.

·	 Rent Relief Pilot Program: 

This pilot was developed by OEWD. We worked with one merchant that was qualified for this program  
and in serious need; we are still waiting for results.

·	 Quarterly vacancy report:

In March 2022, the vacancy report showed a 25% vacancy. By June 2022, this report showed a reduction  
to about 12%. Ocean Avenue is a very desirable area for retailers.

10
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·	 We welcomed the following new businesses that signed leases in FY 21/22: 
 
 1019 Ocean Ave.: 1019 Smoke, LLC (opening in FY 22/23) 1616 Ocean Ave.: Fruit Barn
1025 Ocean Ave.: Mack’s Dry Cleaners 1649a Ocean Ave.: The Plant Lady
1039 Ocean Ave.: Golden Ocean Quickly 1712 Ocean Ave.: Westwood Produce
1423 Ocean Ave.: AD Unique Bath & Kitchen (FY 22/23) 1727 Ocean Ave.: A1 Bakery
1441 Ocean Ave.: North East Medical Services (NEMS) 1735 Ocean Ave: Sam House Ginseng (FY 22/23)
1490 Ocean Ave.: Sweet Cupz 1963 Ocean Ave.: The Pawber Shop
1500 Ocean Ave.: Ocean Seafood Market (FY 22/23) 1967 Ocean Ave.: Pilate Studio (opening in FY 22/23)
1507 Ocean Ave.: Ingleside Art Gallery 2040 Ocean Ave.: Muscle Maker Grill

 
Please welcome these new businesses and say hello to the proprietors! (See front page)

·	 Workshop, readings, conferences, etc. are part of OAA work of communicating information to the  
businesses and the community. FY 21/22 presentations were:

o	“Go Puff” store expansion at 1830 Ocean (old Target), but later canceled.

o	“Public Life Study” Final Report by Tom Radulovich. 

o	“Brown Act Training” by Deputy City Attorney Manu Pradhan.

o	“Shared Spaces”: New regulations were brought to upgrade parklets.

o	“Transportation 2050” by Andrea Buff and Michael Rhodes, SFMTA.

o	“Waymo Cars in our Neighborhood” by Arielle Fleisher & Cassis Schafer.

o	Presentations by SFPD with Captain Eric Vintero, SFPD Taraval Station, Christina O’Bannon and  
Drewkai Butler, officers for Ocean Avenue.

o	“Walk San Francisco” with Aly Geller and Brian Haagsman: shared an overview of planned improvements 
to safety on and around Ocean Avenue, and how community members can share their voices.

o	“Improve Business Safety” by SF SAFE (in English and Chinese). 

D.	 Activities & Events to Bring People to Ocean Avenue
FY 21/22 events on, or by Ocean Avenue to promote our business corridor were:

o	 “National Night Out”: a community-building that promotes police-community partnerships; OAA  
distributed popcorn at the M. & L. Ward Recreation Center with the Taraval Police Station, and  
shaved ice at the Ingleside Police Station. (August 2021)

o	 “Ocean After Hour”: a business owners & neighbors gathering (Jul, Aug & Sept 21); past Executive  
Director Dan Weaver was presented with a Mayor’s Proclamation.

o	 “Open The Gate”: Ingleside Library Gateway Grand Opening in September 2021.

o	 “MuSix September”: featured musicians on Ocean Avenue between Miramar and Faxon. Sponsors  
included Whole Foods Market (4 Gift Certificates), Ocean Paws/The Plant Lady.

o	 “Gotta Love Ocean Avenue” Art Show: organized by community member Kate Favetti, OAA sponsored 
this well attended event in October 2021.

o	 “Phil Ting Bike Fair” at Aptos Park in October 2021: Folks signed a petition to improve safety on  
the Avenue.

o	 “Halloween Block Party” on Faxon Avenue (October 2021)

o	 “MuSix November”: with music group Charged Particles at That’s Amore SF. Sponsor: Ocean Cyclery. 
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o	 “Sleigh This Holiday”: an Arts & Craft Fair on Unity Plaza brought neighbors and kids on Dec 2021.

o	 “Shop & Dine in the 49”: in collaboration with the SF Chamber of Commerce, folks enjoyed carolers  
on a cable car, hot cocoa and tote bags with store coupons. (Dec 2021)

o	 “Lunar New Year”: a cooperation between  
CYC and OAA with over 1,000 participants  
enjoyed entertainments, vendors, food from  
local restaurants and speeches, on Unity Plaza  
and in the parking lot of the City College of  
San Francisco. (February 2022)

o	 “Easter Egg Hunt”: organized by OMI-CPP  
& Ocean Incubators at the M. & L. Ward  
Recreation Ctr, OAA gave away egg-custard  
tarts from A1 Bakery (1727 Ocean). (April 2022)

o	 “STEM Frenzy”: Sciences, Technology, Engineering  
and Mathematics for youngsters; OAA’s tables  
had brain & math challenges for different ages.  
Parents were asked to sign a petition with ways to improve safety on Ocean Avenue. (April 2022)

o	 “Juneteenth 2022”: OAA acts as a “funding agent” for this African American  
organizations event. (June 2022)

o	 “Make Music San Francisco”: San Francisco celebrated the summer solstice with music. Our local  
event happened at That’s Amore SF, 1901 Ocean Ave. with local musician Francisco Rosales (June 2022) 

E.	 Working With the Community
o	 Community Cleanup of Unity Plaza on National Public Lands Day – with community volunteers,  

Whole Foods Market employees, OAA Board Directors & staff (Sept 2021). 25 bags of weeds and trash 
were collected.

o	 20 dedicated students from Lick-Wilmerding volunteered to clean-up the walkway known as  
699 Ocean Avenue and collected 40 bags of trash and weeds.

o	 A group of 15 students from Lick-Wilmerding volunteered to make noise on Ocean & Granada  
Avenues to make drivers aware of the new 20 MPH speed limit.

o	 OAA sponsored the SF Turkey Drive who collects turkeys to feed the poor and homeless coming to  
St. Anthony’s Dining Room to get fed. 

o	 US Again Bins: Clothes recycling bins on Miramar at Ocean a few years ago became a dumping site 
and these bins were removed. In December 2021, it reappeared at the same site. With the  
assistance of neighbors, business owners, the Westwood Park Association, the Supervisor’s office and 
OAA, these bins were removed once more in February 2022 to the satisfaction of everyone.

F.	 Working With City Departments
o	 Ingleside Public Library has graciously accommodated the OAA for meetings in their community 

room, events in their garden, and for the inauguration of the new Gateway.

o	 DPW: Thanks to our work with the Dept of Public Works, 4 additional trash cans were added along 
Ocean Avenue in FY 21/22, and one of the new prototype models is coming in July 22.

o	 DPW: We connected 3 teams of neighbors with this Dept. under the Adopt-A-Street program so they 
can care for their block adjacent to Ocean Avenue.

o	 DPW: With the assistance of DPW, a group of about 20 volunteers from Lick-Wilmerding H.S. where 
supplied tools necessary to clean up the alley known as 699 Ocean Avenue.  

12
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o	 MTA: Since working with the Municipal Transportation Agency (MTA) on the steam cleaning of Unity 
Plaza, the plaza is clean and the greenery around it well maintained and welcoming.

o	 OEWD: All members of the Office of Economic Dev development (OEWD) are always available with 
the most updated & useful information and suggestions, and just a phone call away.

o	 311: daily call to 311 for service on the Avenue 

Part 4. Growth Through Grants
A.	 Strategic Plan

From the FY 20/21 Strategic Plan, the following accomplishments were made:

o	 Board Member Handbook

o	 Personnel Policies and Procedures

o	 Financial Policies

More remains to be done in FY 22/23. The Strategic Plan is detailed on the OAA website.

B.	 Renewal & Expansion of the OAA
The work of OAA consists of keeping Ocean Avenue clean and graffiti-free, with a beautification program, a 
planting areas maintenance program, and a business marketing program in place. The OAA started in 2010 
with an initial term of 15 years. Renewal for another 15-year term is slated for 2025.  The OAA already started 
the process of renewal and intents to expand the geographic footprint of the OAA. The expansion will be from 
the Balboa BART station on San Jose Avenue to 19th Avenue. (See map on page-16) 

The process for the renewal of OAA started with the signing of the contract with the consulting firm NBS in July 
2021. The Renewal & Expansion working group met with new stakeholders including a Lakeside Village group, 
Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development, Municipal Transportation Authority, Parks & Rec, and 
BART. Performed in FY 21/22 were:

Step 1: a survey was sent to present stakeholders and first results were received;

Step 2: the coverage area of the new CBD was defined;

Step 3: the level of services and frequency was determined for each area;

Step 4: the new budget to fulfill these services was calculated;

Step 5: based on the necessary budget, the methodology of the assessment cost for each property 
owner based on the type of property was defined.

In the next fiscal year, the cost of assessment per property will be communicated to each property owner. OAA 
will need the districts 7 & 11 Supervisors’ approval to proceed or update. There will be a series of community 
engagements. Finally, it will go to the property owners for a vote targeted for Spring 2023 with the start of the 
new term set for 2024.

C.	 Board Training
For the Renewal & Expansion Grant, new funding was added for a training program to strengthen the  
OAA Board and management of OAA. Training is set for FY 22/23. 

D.	 Closing Older Grants 
 	 After a lengthy pandemic, the following older grants needed to be completed, then closed.

o	 Public Live Study & Activation by Livable City

o	 Historic Preservation Grant (Architecture + History)

o	 Ingleside Library Gateway – See under Ingleside Community Fund (See Page 14) 
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o	 Ocean Avenue Mural Fund by the San Francisco Art Commission

o	 SF Shines Grant FY 20/21

o	 CDBG Small Business Grant FY 20/21

Part 5. Surveillance Technology
The Ocean Avenue Association does not have any surveillance technology in place at this time.

Part 6. Ingleside Community Fund (ICF)
•	 Ingleside Public Library Gateway: started over 4 years ago, this project was developed by past E.D. Daniel 

Weaver, and managed by Neil Ballard. This impressive new Gate was designed and built by artist Eric  
Powell, and was inaugurated in Sept 2021. It is now the prominent art piece on Ocean Ave.  
(1298 Ocean Ave.)

•	 ICF was formed with a 501(c)(3) tax-exempt status to be able to fund the Ingleside Library Gateway. The 
grant is now completed. Meanwhile OAA also became a 501(c)(3).  

•	 The merging of ICF with OAA was approved by both Boards of Directors and by the Secretary of State of 
California in June 2022, ending the existence of ICF. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 7. Board of Directors & Staff Updates 
The Board of Directors elected in July 2021 changed during the year for multiple reasons.  

The Bylaws of the organization were updated and approved in March 2022 (available on OAA website).  

The Board of Directors now stands at 13 members. We welcomed Vivian Liang (NEMS), Larry Dorsey (KMAC), 
Raymond Hou (Ingleside Community Center), Linda Shore & Joycelin Craig (ASP). 

At the end of FY 21/22, the same Officers and Directors were re-elected for FY 22/23. 

The OAA Officers:		  The OAA Directors:
Shirley Lima, Chair		  Walee Gon		  Raymond Hou	            Linda Shore/Joycelin Craig
Vivian Liang, Vice-Chair	 Dan Casias		  Maurice Rivers            Tacha Santana
Henry Kevane, Treasurer	 Larry Dorsey  	            Alberto Vasquez         Christy Godinez-Jackson
Howard Chung, Secretary	

Started during the COVID-19 pandemic, all Board meetings will continue to be via Zoom till further notice.

Staff Updates: Jordan Mar resigned in May 2022. Rosendo Betancourt will become OAA Small Business &  
Marketing Manager in July 2022 (RosendoB@oaacbd.org). Executive Director Pierre Smit resigned as of  
August 27, 2022. A new E.D. will be hired soon.
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The Ocean Avenue Community Benefits District consists of a 12-block retail business corridor in the southern part  
of San Francisco.   

Ocean Avenue is the center of a quiet residential area easily accessible by BART, MUNI, 280 Freeway, Junipero 
Serra or 19th Avenue.  It is an alley to educational institutions such as San Francisco City College, San Francisco 

State University, many High Schools, Middle Schools and Elementary Schools.  

Ocean Avenue is located steps away from many very different neighborhoods,  
and it is a place of unity for businesses serving folks of all backgrounds.

Ocean Avenue Association – 1728 Ocean Avenue PMB 154 – San Francisco CA 94112 OceanAvenueAssociation.org  
info.oacbd@gmail.org – 650-273-6223
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REVIEW REPORT 

Board of Directors 

Ocean Avenue Association 

San Francisco, California 

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Ocean Avenue Association (the Organization), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2022, and the related statements of activities, 

cash flows and functional expenses for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A 

review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's financial data and making inquiries 

of Organization management. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the 

expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an 

opinion. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. 

Accountants’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for 

Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain 

limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be 

made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our 

conclusion. We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 

in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our review. 

Accountants’ Conclusion 

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying 

financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

The accompanying summarized comparative information as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021 is derived 

from financials that were previously reviewed by us and we stated that we were not aware of any material 

modifications that should be made to those financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America in our report dated January 26, 2022. 

We have not performed procedures in connection with that review engagement since that date. 

 

 

Oakland, California 

May 12, 2023 

 

CROSBY & KANEDA 
 

Certified Public Accountants  

for Nonprofit Organizations 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

1970 Broadway Suite 930 

Oakland, CA 94612 

www.ckcpa.biz 

510-835-2727 



2022 2021

Assets

Cash 217,091$       202,939$       

Assessments receivable 29,905           30,254           

Grants receivable 27,467 7,567             

Total Assets 274,463$       240,760$       

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 22,782$         2,863$           

Total Liabilities 22,782           2,863             

Net assets without donor restrictions 251,681         237,897         

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 274,463$       240,760$       

Liabilities

OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION

                                                                            

Assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

(With Comparative Totals as of June 30, 2021)

June 30, 2022

Statement of Financial Position

See Independent Accountants' Review Report 

and Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021

Support and Revenue

Assessment revenue 369,343$       339,581$       

Government grants and contracts 170,092 132,178         

Late fees and other income 2,146 2,523             

Total Support and Revenue 541,581         474,282         

Expenses

Program 411,104         319,774         

Management and general 87,133           80,275           

Fundraising 29,560           20,025           

Total Expenses 527,797         420,074         

Change in net assets 13,784           54,208           

Net Assets without donor restrictions, beginning of year 237,897         183,689         

Net Assets without donor restrictions, end of year 251,681$       237,897$       

(With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement of Activities

OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION

                                                                                               

See Independent Accountants' Review Report 

and Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 13,784$         54,208$         

Adjustments to reconcile change in net

assets to cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Change in assets and liabilities:

Assessments receivable 349                (17,156)          

Grants receivable (19,900)          32,709           

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 19,919           (42,441)          

Deferred revenue -                     (23,228)          

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 14,152           4,092             

Net change in cash 14,152           4,092             

Cash, beginning of year 202,939         198,847         

Cash, end of year 217,091$       202,939$       

                                                                                                 

(With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement of Cash Flows

OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION

See Independent Accountants' Review Report 

and Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Management

Program and General Fundraising 2022 2021

Salaries 92,836$     26,110$     26,111$     145,057$    97,604$      

Retirement contributions 2,328         655            655            3,638          2,928          

Employee benefits 1,920         540            540            3,000          -                  

Payroll taxes 6,769         1,904         1,904         10,577        7,788          

  Total Personnel 103,853     29,209       29,210       162,272      108,320      

Fees for service 

  Cleaning & sanitation 133,912     -                 -                 133,912      113,481      

  Watering, landscaping, maintenance 24,055       -                 -                 24,055        16,268        

  Project expenses 137,793     -                 -                 137,793      86,426        

  Professional and other services 2,525         38,230       -                 40,755        74,831        

Advertising and promotion 4,722         -                 -                 4,722          105             

Supplies and office expenses 4,244         3,841         350            8,435          8,421          

Travel and meals -                 -                 -                 -                  243             

Conferences and meetings -                 1,208         -                 1,208          112             

Insurance 6,651         6,651          5,782          

Service fees, permits and other -                 7,994         -                 7,994          6,085          

    Total Expenses 411,104$   87,133$     29,560$     527,797$    420,074$    

Total

(With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2021)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Statement of Functional Expenses

OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION

                                                                                

See Independent Accountants' Review Report 

and Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 1: NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 

The Ocean Avenue Association (the Organization or OAA) is a California nonprofit Public 

Benefit Corporation, which was established in December of 2010. Services began in July 

2011 along the Ocean Avenue corridor in the Ocean-Merced-Ingleside (OMI) 

neighborhood. OAA’s mission is to revitalize the Ocean Avenue corridor from Interstate 

280 to Manor Drive through sanitation, safety programs, marketing, promotion and 

advocacy for property and business owners.  

The OAA is committed to making the Ocean Avenue corridor a vibrant and safe place by 

providing programs and services that improve the quality of life for those who live and 

work in the community. Entrepreneurs, merchants and neighborhood stakeholders benefit 

from the CBD in numerous ways.  

The OAA provides supplemental sanitation services 6 days a week, inclusive of sidewalk 

sweeping, reporting incidents to 311, graffiti removal from private and public property and 

power washing of sidewalks and transit boarding islands.  

The OAA also promotes the district through publications, programs, and advertising by 

supporting a range of community events, from holiday decorations to summer events.  

NOTE 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 

accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America (GAAP).  

Net Assets 

The financial statements report net assets and changes in net assets in two classes that are 

based upon the existence or absence of restrictions on use that are placed by its donors, as 

follows: 

Net assets without donor restrictions – are resources available to support operations. The 

only limits on the use of the net assets are the broad limits resulting from the nature of the 

Organization, the environment in which it operates, the purposes specified in its corporate 

documents and its application for tax-exempt status, and any limits resulting from 

contractual agreements with creditors and others that are entered into in the course of its 

operations. 

Net assets with donor restrictions – are resources that are restricted by a donor for use for 

a particular purpose or in a particular period. Some donor-imposed restrictions are 

temporary in nature, and the restriction will expire when the resources are used in 

accordance with the donor’s instructions or when the stipulated time has passed. Other 

donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature. There were no restrictions of either  

nature as of June 30, 2022. 

When a donor’s restriction is satisfied, either by using the resources in the manner specified 

by the donor or by the passage of time, the expiration of the restriction is reported in the 
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financial statements by reclassifying the net assets from net assets with donor restrictions 

to net assets without donor restrictions. Net assets restricted for acquisition of building or 

equipment (or less commonly, the contribution of those net assets directly) are reported as 

net assets with donor restrictions until the specified asset is placed in service by the 

Organization, unless the donor provides more specific directions about the period of its 

use. 

Classification of Transactions 

All revenues and net gains are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions 

in the statement of activities unless the donor specified the use of the related resources for 

a particular purpose or in a future period. All expenses and net losses are reported as 

decreases in net assets without donor restrictions.  

Accounting for Contributions 

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized when received. 

All contributions are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless 

the contributed assets are specifically restricted by the donor. Amounts received that are 

restricted by the donor to use in future periods or for specific purposes are reported as 

increases in net assets with donor restrictions. Unconditional promises with payments due 

in future years have an implied restriction to be used in the year the payment is due, and 

therefore are reported as restricted until payment is due, unless the contribution is clearly 

intended to support activities of the current fiscal year. Conditional promises are not 

recognized until they become unconditional, that is, until all conditions on which they 

depend are substantially met. 

Accounting for Assessment Revenue 

The Organization recognizes assessment revenue when assessed. Assessment revenue is 

secured through property tax assessments managed by the City and County of San 

Francisco. Collection of assessment revenue depends on the City and County of San 

Francisco, which may assess fines, penalties and interest on delinquent assessments. The 

Organization recognizes revenue related to fines or penalties when payment is received, 

and such fines or penalties are known.  

Assessments Receivable 

Assessments receivable primarily consists of tax assessments owed by property owners. 

Such assessments are subject to City and County of San Francisco enforcement procedures 

and are secured by property located in the City and County of San Francisco. The 

Organization considers all assessments to be fully collectible at June 30, 2022, though the 

timing of collection is not under the Organization’s control and may be delayed.  

Grants Receivable 

Grants receivable are primarily unsecured non-interest bearing amounts due from grantors 

on a cost reimbursement or performance grants. The Organization considers all accounts 

receivable to be fully collectible at June 30, 2022. Accordingly, no allowance for doubtful 

accounts was deemed necessary. If amounts become uncollectible, they are charged to 

expense in the period in which that determination is made. 
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Income Taxes 

The Internal Revenue Service and the California Franchise Tax Board have determined 

that the Organization is exempt from federal and state income taxes under IRC 501(c)(3) 

and Revenue and Taxation Code (R&TC) Section 23701f.  

The Organization has evaluated its current tax positions as of June 30, 2022 and is not 

aware of any significant uncertain tax positions for which a reserve would be necessary. 

The Organization’s tax returns are generally subject to examination by federal and state 

taxing authorities for three and four years, respectively, after they are filed. 

Contributed Services 

Contributed services are reflected in the financial statements at the fair value of the services 

received only if the services (a) create or enhance nonfinancial assets or (b) require 

specialized skills, are performed by people with those skills, and would otherwise be 

purchased by the Organization. There were no contributed services that met the criteria for 

recognition for the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Fair Value Measurements 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. 

The Organization determines the fair value of its assets and liabilities based on a fair value 

hierarchy that includes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value.  

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the Organization has the ability to access at the measurement date.  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly.  

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the assets or liability. 

The Organization had no assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on June 30, 2022. 

Property and Equipment 

All acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $2,500 and all expenditures for 

repairs and maintenance, renewals, and betterments that materially prolong the useful lives 

of assets are capitalized. Property and equipment are stated at cost or, if donated, at the 

approximate fair value at the date of donation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives on the property and equipment. The 
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Organization had no property and equipment that met this capitalization policy at June 30, 

2022. 

Expense Recognition and Allocation 

The cost of providing the Organization’s programs and other activities is summarized on a 

functional basis in the statement of activities and statement of functional expenses. 

Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or support service are charged 

directly to that program or support service. Costs common to multiple functions have been 

allocated among the various functions using a reasonable allocation method that is 

consistently applied as follows: 

Salaries and wages, benefits, and payroll taxes are allocated based on an estimate of staff 

time allocation calculated on an individual level for each employee.  

Office expenses and supplies and other expenses that cannot be directly identified are 

allocated on the basis of employee headcount for each program and supporting activity. 

Management and general expenses include those costs that are not directly identifiable with 

any specific program, but which provide for the overall support and direction of the 

Organization. 

Fundraising costs are expensed as incurred, even though they may result in contributions 

received in future years. The Organization generally does not conduct fundraising activities 

in conjunction with its other activities. Additionally, advertising costs are expensed as 

incurred. 

Certain employees have transited to consultants, and they are paid for both salaries and fee 

for services. The Organization classified such contractor expenses with salaries for 

consistency with existing classification for such staff time.  

Prior Year Summarized Information 

The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information 

in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to 

constitute a presentation in conformity with GAAP. Accordingly, such information should 

be read in conjunction with the Organization’s financial statements for the year ended June 

30, 2021, from which the summarized information was derived. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In September 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-07, Presentation and Disclosures by Not-

for-Profit Entities for Contributed Nonfinancial Assets. This update was designed to 

increase the transparency of contribution nonfinancial assets through enhancements to 

presentation and disclosure. The update requires that in-kind contributions be presented as 

a separate line on the statement of activities, disaggregate in-kind contributions by 

category, describe whether contributed nonfinancial assets were monetized or utilized, 

disclose policies for monetization rather than utilization (if any), donor-imposed 

restrictions related to in-kind contributions and describe the valuation techniques used to 

arrive at a fair value measure of value of donated items. The Organization’s adoption of 

this update did not have a material impact on the Organizations financial statements. 
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Reclassifications 

Certain accounts in the prior year’s summarized information have been reclassified for 

comparative purposes to conform with the presentation in the current-year financial 

statements. 

Subsequent Events  

The Organization has evaluated subsequent events and has concluded that as of May 12, 

2023, the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, there were no 

significant subsequent events to disclose. 

NOTE 3: CONCENTRATIONS 

Assessment Revenue 

Special benefit assessments are received under a contract with the City and County of San 

Francisco and represent approximately 69% of the Organization’s total revenue. Under the 

terms of the contract, the City and County can suspend distributions and ultimately 

terminate the contract if the Organization fails to provide adequate services to the district 

or fails to perform other responsibilities. The contract expires on June 30, 2025 and could 

be terminated at an earlier date if the related community benefit district is disestablished. 

Geographic 

A majority of the Organization’s revenue comes from a group of property owners located 

in one geographic area. Natural disasters, economic or other local impacts on this area may 

affect the timing of assessment payments by such property owners.  

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Organization receives assessment payment revenue in lump sums periodically during 

the year and at times, the Organization may have had deposits in excess of federally insured 

limits.  

NOTE 4: CONTINGENCIES AND UNCERTAINTIES 

Government Funding 

The Organization receives government funding, which includes numerous terms and 

conditions both directly and by reference and is subject to subsequent audit which may 

result in disallowed costs or other required adjustments. The Organization believes it has 

complied with the terms of all such awards. 

Coronavirus 

The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this report. 

As such, it is uncertain as to the full magnitude of the effect that the pandemic will have 

on the Organization’s financial condition, liquidity, and future results of operations. 

Management is actively monitoring the impact on its financial condition, liquidity, 

operations and workforce.  



OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 

(With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2021) 

 

11 

NOTE 5: RETIREMENT PLAN 

The Organization sponsors a Simple IRA retirement plan for employees. The Organization 

contributes 3% of gross salary for each eligible employee. The Organization contributed 

$3,638 and $2,928 to the plan during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

NOTE 6: LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other 

restrictions limiting their use, within one year of June 30, 2022 are: 

Cash and cash equivalents $   217,091 

Assessments receivable   29,905         

Grants receivable      27,467  

 Total  $   274,463 

As part of the Organization’s liquidity management plan, the Organization monitors cash 

to confirm it is sufficient for immediate requirements. 

NOTE 7: RELATED PARTY ACTIVITIES 

A member of the Organization’s board served as a member of management of a partner 

nonprofit Oceanview Merced Ingleside Cultural Participation Project (OMICPP). Total 

disbursements for the period ending June 30, 2022 were $25,000 to OMICPP.  

NOTE 8: INGLESIDE COMMUNITY FUND  

Ingleside Community Fund completed its activities during the year ended June 30, 2022, 

and following a letter of no objection from the California Registry of Charitable Trusts, 

was merged into Ocean Avenue Association prior to June 30, 2022. Activity of the 

Ingleside Community Fund (the Fund), reported as part of these financials, consisted of 

approximately $38,603 in revenue and $45,063 in expenses during the year ended June 30, 

2022. No balances were held in former Fund accounts as of June 30, 2022.  
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This is a memo summarizing the accomplishments of the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District 

(“Ocean Avenue CBD” or “CBD”) and an analysis of its financial statements (based on their audit) for the 

period between July 1, 2021 and June 30, 2022. 

Each year, the CBD is required to submit a mid-year report, an annual report and a CPA financial review 

or audit. Ocean Avenue CBD has complied with the submission of all these requirements. OEWD staff, 

with assistance from the Controller’s Office, reviewed these financial documents to monitor and report on 

whether they have complied with the rules per the Property and Business Improvement District Law of 

1994, California Streets and Highways Code Sections 36600 Et Seq.; San Francisco’s Business and Tax 

Regulations Code Article 15; the Ocean Avenue CBD management contract with the City; and their 

Management Plan approved by the Board of Supervisors in 2010. 

 

Also attached to this memo are the following documents: 

1. Annual Report  

a. FY 2021-2022 

2. CPA Financial Review Report 

a. FY 2021-2022 

3. Ocean Avenue Audit (completed June 2023) 

4. Draft resolution from the Office of Economic and Workforce Development 
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Background 

 

The Ocean Avenue CBD includes both privately- and publicly-owned properties. The district covers 12 

blocks and includes approximately 151 parcels. 

• December 14, 2010: the Board of Supervisors approved the resolution that established the Ocean 

Avenue Community Benefit District for 15 years (Resolution # 587-10). 

• May 24, 2011: the Board of Supervisors approved the contract for the administration and management 

of the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District (Resolution #221-11). 

• April 19, 2016: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue Community 

Benefit District for FY 2014-2015 (Resolution # 141-16). 

• March 21, 2017: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2015-2016 (Resolution # 097-17). 

• September 25, 2018: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2016-2017 (Resolution # 314-18).  

• September 17, 2019: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2017-2018 (Resolution # 401-19). 

• September 29, 2020: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2018-2019 (Resolution #435-20). 

• January 25, 2022: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2019-2020 (Resolution # 20-22). 

• November 29, 2022: the Board of Supervisors approved the annual report for the Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District for FY 2021-2022 (Resolution # 503-22). 

 

 

Basic Information about the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District: 

 

Year Established   December 2010 

Assessment Collection Period  FY 2010-2011 to FY 2024-2025 (July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2025) 

Services Start and End Date   July 1, 2011 – December 31, 2025 

Initial Estimated Annual Budget  $239,578.00 

FY 2021-22 Assessment Submission $345,014.02 

Fiscal Year     July 1 – June 30 

Executive Director    Pierre Smit (through August 27, 2022) 

     Christian Martin (since October 2022)     

Name of Nonprofit Owners’ Entity Ocean Avenue Association (“OAA”) 

 

The current CBD website www.oceanavenueassociation.org includes pertinent information about the 

organization and their programs, a calendar of events, their Management Plan, Mid-Year Report, Annual 

Report and meeting schedules. 

 

 

Summary of Program Areas 

Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety 

http://www.oceanavenueassociation.org/
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The Ocean Avenue Management Plan calls for approximately 52% of the budget to be spent on Cleaning, 

Safety, and Maintenance. OAA contracts with CleanScapes to provide cleaning and maintenance. Two 

workers are employed who clean and maintain the public realm six days a week. These services include 

sweeping and steam cleaning sidewalks and Muni boarding islands; removing graffiti within 24 hours; 

topping off city trash cans; spot pressure washing; reporting and monitoring of illegal dumping of small 

and large items in the public right-of-way; wiping down furniture; removing weeds from tree wells; 

removing posted notices on city poles and other street furniture; and painting city poles. 

Marketing, Streetscape Improvements, and Beautification 

Approximately 18% of the annual budget is allocated for public space development and streetscape 

improvements. This program area includes but is not limited to promoting the district through a website 

that includes information about their purpose and accomplishments, sponsoring special events such as 

holiday events and monthly concerts, and developing marketing activities that support efforts to recruit and 

retain businesses. 

Management & Operations 

The Ocean Avenue CBD is staffed by a full-time Executive Director who (1) performs the day-to-day 

management of the organization, (2) serves at the focal point person for the district, (3) advocates for city 

funds and services and (4) ensures that the organization is compliant with their Management Plan and City 

contract. The CBD Management Plan calls for approximately 26% of the budget to be spent on management 

and operations.   

The Ocean Avenue CBD board has ten (10) members represented by residents, property owners, 

community organizations, non-profit arts organizations, government and educational institutions and 

businesses. The Board shall include no less than five and no more than eleven members, and be composed 

of at least 50% of property owners, or property owners’ designated representatives, who are paying the 

CBD assessment. In addition to the property owners, at least 20 percent of the Board shall be representatives 

of non-property-owning businesses within the CBD boundaries. The Board also includes representatives 

from neighborhood organizations. Currently, the board structure complies with Article 15 of the San 

Francisco Business and Tax Regulations Code. The full board meets monthly.  

 

Summary of Accomplishments, Challenges, and Delivery of Services 

FY 2021-2022 

Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety 

• Added four trash cans 

• Collected 25,000 pounds of trash 

• Cleaned up 1,300 graffiti occurrences 

• Power washed 200 blocks 

• Responded to 340 311 Calls 

• Cleaned 50 palm trees 

• Cleaned 600 instances of feces 



4 

Marketing, Streetscape Improvements, and Beautification 

• With a grant from Paint the Void, a temporary artwork was painted on 1441 Ocean  

• Installed holiday bows on all palm trees and developed a Photo Contest to promote the bows 

• Started public campaign to promote new 20 MPH speed limit 

• Organized a volunteer day with Lick-Wilmerding High School students to promote new speed limit 

• Developed a database of all businesses 

• Produced the Ocean Avenue Business Directory and distributed to 5,000 recipients in surrounding 

neighborhoods for August 2022 

• Increased its email list by 38% and regularly sent monthly announcements on community updates 

• Posting regularly on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram; saw a 300% increase in Instagram followers 

• Distributed information on the vandalism Relief Grant in English and Chinese and assist businesses 

with applications 

• Worked with the Office of Small Business to resolve some ADA issues with retail stores 

• Helped one merchant apply to the Rent Relief Pilot Program 

• Saw vacancy reduction rate halved 

• Participated in the following events National Night Out in August 2021, Ocean After Hour, Open 

the Gate in September 2021, MuSix September, Phil Ting Bike Fair in October 2021, Halloween 

Block Party on Faxon Avenue in October 2021, MuSix November, Sleigh This Holiday in 

December 2021, Shop & Dine in the 49 in December 2021, Easter Egg Hunt at the M. & L. Ward 

Recreation Center in April 2022 and STEM Frenzy in April 2022 and make Music San Francisco 

in June 2022 

• Sponsored Gotta Love Ocean Avenue Art show in October 2021 

• Hosted Lunar New Year event with CYC bringing over 1,000 participants to Unity Plaza and the 

City College of San Francisco parking lot in February 2022 

• Fiscal agent for Juneteenth 2022 event in the district 

• Sponsored SF Turkey Drive for the district 

Management & Operations 

• Drafted Board Member Handbook, Personnel Policies and Procedures, and Financial Policies 

• Started to prepare for the renewal and expansion of the CBD by distributing a survey, defining 

coverage area of new CBD, level of services and frequency for each area, new budget, and the 

methodology of the assessment cost 

• Absorbed Ingleside Community Fund in June 2022 

• Hired new Small Business and Marketing Manager in July 2022 

• Executive Director, Pierre Smit, resigned as of August 27, 2022 

Ocean Avenue CBD Annual Budget Analysis 

OEWD’s staff reviewed the following budget related benchmarks for the Ocean Avenue CBD:  

• BENCHMARK 1: Whether the variance between the budget amounts for each service category 

was within 10 percentage points from the budget identified in the Management Plan (Agreement 

for the Administration of the “Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District”, Section 3.9 – Budget)  
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• BENCHMARK 2: Whether one percent (1%) of actuals came from sources other than assessment 

revenue (CA Streets & Highways Code, Section 36650(B)(6); Agreement for the Administration of 

the “Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District”, Section A - Annual Reports) 

• BENCHMARK 3: Whether the variance between the budget amount and actual expenses within 

a fiscal year was within 10 percent (Agreement for the Administration of the “Ocean Avenue 

Community Benefit District”, Section 3.9 – Budget. 

• BENCHMARK 4: Whether the Ocean Avenue CBD is indicating the amount of any surplus or 

deficit revenues to be carried forward into the next fiscal year and designating the projects to be 

funded by any surplus revenues (CA Streets & Highways Code, Section 36650(B)(5). 

 

FY 2021-2022 Budget Analysis 

BENCHMARK 1: Whether the variance between the budget amounts for each service category was within 

10 percentage points from the budget identified in the Management Plan.  

ANALYSIS: The Ocean Avenue CBD met this requirement. See table below. 

 Management Plan Budget FY 2021-2022 Budget Variance 

Service 

Category 

Assessment 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 

Assessment 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 
Assessment Total 

Cleaning, 

Maintenance 

and Safety 

Program 

$123,750.00 

(51.65%) 

$125,000.00 

(51.65%) 

$192,155.00 

(45.03%) 

$192,155.00 

(30.57%) 
-6.62% -21.09% 

Marketing, 

Streetscape 

Improvements, 

and 

Beautification 

Program 

$43,221.42 

(18.04%) 

$43,658.00 

(18.04%) 

$88,945.00 

(20.85%) 

$100,933.00 

(16.06%) 
+2.81% -1.99% 

Management 

and Operations 

$62,370.00 

(26.03%) 

$63,000.00 

(26.03%) 

$130,560.00 

(30.60%) 

$320,560.00 

(50.99%) 
+4.57% +24.96% 

Contingency 

and Reserve 

$10,236.60 

(4.27%) 

$10,340.00 

(4.27%) 

$15,000.00 

(3.52%) 

$15,000.00 

(2.39%) 
-0.76% -1.89% 

TOTAL $239,578.02 $241,998.00 $426,660.00 $628,648.00   

 

 

BENCHMARK 2: Whether one percent (1%) of actuals came from sources other than assessment revenue  

ANALYSIS: The Ocean Avenue CBD met this requirement. Assessment revenue was $202,950.00 or 68% 

of actuals and non-assessment revenue was $94,996.00 or 32.88% of actuals. See table below. 



6 

Revenue Sources FY2022 Actuals % of Actuals 

Total Assessment (Special Benefit) Revenue $385,581.00 65.62% 

Grants $199,810.00  

Other misc. revenue $2,178.00  

Total Non-Assessment (General Benefit) 

Revenue 
$201,988.00 34.38% 

Grand Total Revenue $587,569.00 100% 

 

BENCHMARK 3: Whether the variance between the budget amount and actual expenses within a fiscal 

year was within 10 percentage points 

ANALYSIS: The Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet this requirement. See Table below. 

 FY 2021-2022 Budget FY 2021-2022 Actuals Variance 

Service 

Category 

Assessment 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 

Assessment 

(%) 

Total 

(%) 
Assessment Total 

Cleaning, 

Maintenance 

and Safety 

Program 

$192,155.00 

(45.03%) 

$192,155.00 

(30.57%) 

$190,882.00 

(55.56%) 

$190,882.00 

(40.68%) 
+10.53% +10.11% 

Marketing, 

Streetscape 

Improvements, 

and 

Beautification 

Program 

$88,945.00 

(20.85%) 

$100,933.00 

(16.06%) 

$41,380.00 

(12.05%) 

$53,348.00 

(11.37%) 
-8.80% -4.69% 

Management 

and Operations 

$130,560.00 

(30.60%) 

$320,560.00 

(50.99%) 

$111,255.00 

(32.39%) 

$225,004.00 

(47.95%) 
+1.79% -3.04% 

Contingency 

and Reserve 

$15,000.00 

(3.52%) 

$15,000.00 

(2.39%) 

$0.00 

(0.00%) 

$0.00 

(0.00%) 
-3.52% -2.39% 

TOTAL $426,660.00 $628,648.00 $343,517.00 $469,234.00   

 

BENCHMARK 4: Whether the Ocean Avenue CBD is indicating the amount of any surplus or deficit 

revenues to be carried forward into the next fiscal year and designating the projects to be funded by any 

surplus revenues 

ANALYSIS:  The Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet this requirement. Per California Streets and Highways 

code 36650 (b) (5) CBDs are required to indicate the amount of surplus or deficit revenues to be carried 
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over from the previous fiscal year into the next. The Ocean Avenue CBD did not include this information 

in their annual report delivered to the Office of Economic and Workforce Development, but did provide it 

in supplemental documentation provided to OEWD. In the supplemental information, they did not indicate 

how this would be broken down by service category for expenditures in future years. 

Please note: There is a period between when the City collects assessment payment and when the City 

disburses the funds to the CBD. As a result, a CBD typically has a fund balance at the end of the fiscal year 

that is equal to about 6 months of their annual budget. See table below. 

FY 2021-2022 Carryover Disbursement   

Cleaning, Maintenance and Safety  

Marketing, Streetscape Improvements and Beautification    

Management and Operations   

Contingency and Reserves     

Total Designated Amount for Future Years  

 

 

Findings and Recommendations 

OEWD would like to acknowledge that current leadership of the organization came in after this reporting 

period. They have made substantial progress in FY 22-23 in moving the organization forward. This 

progress, while ongoing, will be extensively detailed in the FY 22-23 annual report.  

The Ocean Avenue CBD met 2 of the 4 benchmarks as defined on pages 4 and 5 of this memo. For the year 

in review, the Ocean Avenue CBD exceeded its general benefit requirement of one percent (1%) by raising 

approximately 33% in general benefit dollars and the CBD kept its variances in line for Benchmark 1 and 

3. Although the organization did meet its benchmark variances and exceeded general benefit fundraising, a 

discussion should be had to ensure that some general benefit funding, at least 1%, is allocated to the 

Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety program area. This could be from grant/donation dollars or in-kind 

donations such as volunteer time.  

The Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet Benchmark 3 as they overspent in the Cleaning, Maintenance, and 

Public Safety category by 0.53%. OEWD’s opinion is that this likely did not impact special assessments 

due to the small nature of the overture and that all parcels receive these services. If the CBD spent more on 

Marketing, Streetscape Improvements, and Beautification service area, like it planned to, this benchmark 

likely would have been met. OEWD believes this could have been prevented by having multiple plans or 

soliciting committee/board feedback before making a proposal. OEWD, based on the amount unspent, will 

monitor Ocean Avenue CBD to ensure they make significant efforts to spend this down throughout FY 22-

23. 
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The Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet Benchmark 4 indicate the amount of surplus or deficits revenues to 

be carried forward because it did not include this information in the annual report. Over the years many 

CBDs have failed to provide this information because it is provided in their financial statements or 

supplemental documentation provided to OEWD, but state law specifies it must be included in the annual 

report. OEWD created a reporting template in 2015 for CBDs to address this issue, but the Ocean Avenue 

CBD did not use it. OEWD has revised the template for FY 20-21 reporting and, in a summary memo, 

required all CBDs to include all chart fields from that template in the annual report to property owners. If 

the Ocean Avenue CBD does this for future annual reports they will comply with the law. This is the second 

year in a row that the Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet this requirement, which is expressly outlined in 

state law.  

In FY 2020-2021, OEWD presented through this annual reporting process the results of Ocean Avenue 

Strategic Plan (the Plan). The Plan, which was funded by OEWD as part of the organization’s renewal, was 

designed to provide the organization a roadmap to fix systemic and structural issues before going out for 

renewal. OEWD monitored the Ocean Avenue CBD throughout FY 20-21 to ensure the organization was 

making progress in achieving these objectives. OEWD is not designed to provide technical assistance to 

the degree and nature that is the organization required and worked within current frameworks to the best of 

its ability. At the end of the day, OEWD does not have the direct ability to force action on specific 

recommendations made in the Plan. It is the responsibility of the executive director and the organization’s 

Board of Director’s to make such changes. Should the organization not make progress, to OEWD’s liking, 

then OEWD planned to work with the Office of the Controller for an audit of the organization. This is the 

first step in the management agreement outlined process to either suspend the organization’s special 

assessment funding distribution or work to transfer the management agreement to another owner’s 

association.  

In order to track the success of the organization, OEWD used the Plan’s recommendation section as a guide. 

The Ocean Avenue CBD chose to move forward without professional consultants well versed in non-profit 

management for FY 21-22 while following through on the Plan’s recommendations. The recommendations 

from the Plan are:  

• Organizational Recommendations 

o Internal 

▪ Each Board member has a responsibility to provide leadership. The participation 

of each Board member in driving the vision for the District and providing guidance 

and oversight of operations of the OAA is critical. It is not acceptable as a Board 

member to just attend meetings and listen. Asking questions and expecting answers 

is part of the fiduciary responsibility of each Board member. 

▪ Create a Board Handbook/Document that clearly defines the Board’s role, its legal 

responsibilities and the role and expectations of each individual board member. 

The document should include expectations of Board member participation and 

attendance. A draft of this document may be prepared by staff or consultants, but 

the Board must be heavily invested in and approve the final document. The 

document does not need to be lengthy and complex, but should be clear and 

concise. 
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▪ The Board Handbook/Document must be a part of each new Board member’s 

orientation along with the Financial Policy Document. 

▪ In April/May of each year develop an annual work plan for the coming fiscal year. 

The plan should have a defined set of programs with operational expectations and 

goals. This plan is an integral part of the annual budget development process. A 

draft of this document may be prepared by staff, but the Board must be heavily 

invested in and approve the final document. 

▪ At each Board meeting the Executive Director should be required to give an update 

on progress executing the work plan. It is the Board’s responsibility to provide 

resources to and guidance on the work plan. It is also the Boards responsibility to 

hold staff accountable for achieving the work plan. 

▪ As identified in the findings, board survey and interviews, the current staff 

structure is not sufficient or effective in executing projects and programs. 

Following on the Board discussions at their November 2020 and January 2021 

Board meetings it is recommended that the Board establish an ad-hoc committee 

to oversee the Executive Director transition. An ad-hoc committee is not subject 

to the Brown Act requirements. 

▪ The ad-hoc Executive Director Transition Committee should be charged with 

creating a detailed transition plan and timeline and reporting back to the Board 

within 30 days. The transition plan should contain, at a minimum, the following 

elements: 

• Executive Director job description  

• Minimum requirements of education, experience  

• Wage and benefit package  

• Recruitment plan. (where, how will we recruit, budget for recruitment)  

• Timeline of process  

• Selection criteria and process 

▪ As part of the Executive Director transition the Board must define: 

• Current Executive Director role during transition period, options are: 

o Maintain current level of responsibility and income.  

o Reduced, part-time, level of responsibility and income.  

o Consult to the OAA with specific defined responsibilities and 

payment. 

• Who will be responsible for the transition process: 

▪ Agenda setting: The normal process for setting the Board agenda in a CBD 

organization starts with the Executive Director/staff creating a draft agenda. The 

draft agenda is reviewed by the Chair of the Board to provide input and approval. 

No changes can be made to the agenda without the approval of both the Chair and 

the Executive Director. 

▪ Currently there are two standing committees, the Street Life Committee and the 

Small Business Committee. It is recommended that the Board analyze the purpose, 

need and goal of each committee. Part of the analysis is understanding staff 

resource allocation to support the committee. This strategic plan is recommending 

two temporary ad-hoc committees. The District Renewal Steering Committee and 
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the Executive Director Transition Committee. Our experience with CBDs has 

shown us that a small number of standing committees is much more efficient. We 

would not recommend creating a third standing committee for the OAA and maybe 

eliminating one of the current committees. We do believe in forming Task Forces, 

ad-hoc committees, with a limited life and narrow focus around specific issues. 

o External 

▪ At the Board retreat the board was asked “As you think about the Vision for Ocean 

Ave what three words stand out?” The word that was most often mentioned was 

Destination. Community, Progress and Art were also mention by many Board 

members. As part of this discussion Urban Place provided the following “Draft 

Framework” as a way for the Board to develop unity and focus on vision and 

purpose. Also this tool can be used to demonstrate OAA vison, purpose and 

programs to the community. 

▪ The issue of providing strong leadership in the community is not changed by 

words, but by actions. As the OAA works through the Executive Director transition 

and implements the recommendations in this plan the perception and reality of the 

OAA’s leadership will strengthen. The OAA will be able to play a more proactive 

role in the changes that are coming to the community 

▪ It is strongly recommended that OAA develop a consistent communication 

strategy that targets the property owners, business owners and community. It is the 

Board’s responsibility to provide resources to and guidance on the communication 

strategy. It is also the Boards responsibility to hold staff accountable for 

implementing the strategy. 

• Operational Recommendations 

o The Board create either one full time new interim position or two-part time new interim 

positions. The new interim position/positions would be responsible for 

Communication/Marketing and Business Development/Support. This position/s could also 

provide support in the areas of administration, renewal process and Executive Director 

transition. The new Executive Director will make the decision whether this position/s 

remain interim or become permanent. 

o The Board create a job description/scope of work for each position/s that includes outcome 

expectations 

o The Board create a wage and benefit package for each position/s. The new position/s should 

be funded by a combination of CDBG grant funding and Carry Over reserves. 

o The Board include in the 2021/2022 budget funding for an office. Having a place that 

business owners, property owners and the community can interface with OAA staff will be 

very valuable in the renewal process. An office is also valuable in developing the 

communication/marketing program and business support program. 

o The clean and beautification programs received a rating of 7.4 out of 10. Although there 

are good reasons to rebid the cleaning program, we recommend not rebidding the clean 

program until after a successful renewal. In the next 6 months to a year you will be 

transitioning to a new Executive Director, renewing the CBD, implementing strategic plan 

recommendations and expanding the Communication/Marketing and Small Business 

Support programs. We don’t recommend adding another major project to that list. 
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• Financial Recommendations 

o The Board adopt an organization financial policy. Elements of the policy at a minimum 

shall be: 

▪ A detailed fiscal year budget must be approved and adopted prior to the start of the 

fiscal year.  

▪ At each board meeting the board members will receive a current financial report. 

Current is defined as of the close of the previous month. The report will have three 

parts:  

• Operating report showing actual to budget for the previous month and year 

to date.  

• Balance sheet showing all assets and liabilities including grants receivable.  

• Cash flow forecast, updated on a monthly basis, for the fiscal year.  

▪ Check signing policy to define who can sign checks. Checks over a set limit should 

require two signatures.  

▪ Contract policy defining who approves contracts. It is recommended that the board 

must approve all contracts above a set limit. Allow the Executive Director to 

approve small administration contracts. As part of the approval process the Board 

shall define who may execute contracts.  

▪ Define Board and staff’s responsibility in annual financial review and State and 

Federal tax filings.  

▪ Procedure for bank statements and account reconciliation  

▪ Grant policy, defining:  

• Internal grant submission approval.  

• Internal grant award and contract approval process  

• Grant accounting and administration  

▪ Credit card, travel and expense policy  

▪ Purchasing policy  

▪ Payroll policy 

The Ocean Avenue CBD established a process to hire a new executive director in spring 2021. It is unclear 

to OEWD how widespread the advertisement was for this position. The organization hired Pierre Smit as 

the new executive director, he began in summer 2021. Mr. Smit had management experience in the private 

sector, but not in the non-profit sector and he did not have experience working with or under a non-profit 

board. Mr. Smit met with OEWD early to understand the relationship between the organization and the 

City, his responsibilities, the Plan, and what he was expected to accomplish.  

Mr. Smit resigned from the position shortly after the end of this reporting period. OEWD would like to 

acknowledge that progress was made in meeting recommendations. In particular, the organization’s annual 

report document was of a much higher quality and contained much more information than the one produced 

for the previous reporting period. Additionally, the Ocean Avenue CBD board adopted many of the Plan’s 

recommendations throughout the course of this reporting period. With that said, progress was too slow for 

OEWD’s satisfaction. This is likely due to board members actually working on the policies as opposed to 

sitting in a policy role and having staff make changes/edits to present to them.  
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Due to slow progress made on many of the recommendations, as well concerns about service 

implementation OEWD did plan to utilize budget to have the Office of the Controller audit the organization 

in FY 22-23. Supervisor Melgar also requested an audit of the organization at the end of this reporting 

period. The audit was paid for by OEWD and conducted by the Office of the Controller and/or their 

contractors. The audit was completed in early summer 2023 and is attached to this annual report file. The 

audit covered a five-year period ending June 30, 2022. 

The audit’s key findings are consistent with the 2021 strategic plan findings and OEWD observations and 

are: 

1) OAA Board of Directors Does not Effectively Govern the Organization or District 

2) OAA Does Not Fully Comply With Some Key Provisions of Its Management Agreement With the 

City 

3) OAAA Implemented Many of the Strategic Plan Recommendations 

4) OAA Does Not Always Properly Administer Grant Agreementsi 

 The audit report provides 19 recommendations to improve the OAA’s control environment and ensure its 

obligations and responsibilities are fulfilled. These are: 

1) Set a “tone at the top” that promotes the importance of strong controls and demonstrates 

accountability to all organizational policies and procedures. 

2) Formally establish a clear vision and common understanding of its members’ duties and 

responsibilities and how they differ from those of OAA’s executive director and staff. 

Board members’ duties and responsibilities should focus on OAA’s vision, mission, and 

strategic planning goals and policies, while the executive director’s duties and 

responsibilities should focus on day-today activities needed to fulfill the board’s vision. 

Ensure the board evaluates the executive director's performance in writing at least annually. 

3) Require that a comprehensive, easy-to-locate set of internal policies and procedures be 

created and implemented for all operational areas and activities. The guidance should 

establish and communicate standard expectations focused on efficiency, effectiveness, 

consistency, strong controls, and compliance. 

4) Ensure the policies and procedures that are created have the agreement and support of 

OAA’s board, management, and staff, and that monitoring processes are implemented to 

ensure compliance. 

5) Work with the executive director to establish measurable goals and metrics for the 

Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety program and Marketing, Streetscape, and 

Beautification program. 

6) Require the executive director to summarize in writing and distribute to the board all 

applicable provisions of the California Corporations Code, Section 5233, and the California 

Government Code, Section 54950 et seq. Board members should then familiarize 

themselves with these provisions. 

7) Develop, document, and implement policies and procedures related to conflicts of interest 

for the board and OAA staff. The guidance should describe in detail situations that could 
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be a conflict of interest, OAA’s monitoring processes for conflicts of interest, and OAA’s 

annual reporting of interests to ensure compliance with all applicable provisions of the 

California Corporations Code, Section 5233, and the California Government Code, Section 

54950 et seq. The conflict-of-interest guidance should be incorporated in the board’s 

Handbook and OAA’s personnel policies and procedures, as applicable. 

8) Research and implement best practices of city committees of similar size and/or scope and 

what state law requires to help ensure the board fully complies with the Ralph M. Brown 

Act. This research could include listening to a recorded meeting of the San Francisco Public 

Utilities Commission Revenue Bond Oversight Committee (audio archive at granicus.com) 

to learn how that body conducts its meetings, reading the agenda of the same meeting, and 

becoming familiar with the requirements of California Government Code sections 54952-

54953.3. The board should then agree upon the best practices and implement them in its 

procedures. 

9) Consider establishing term limits for its members, including whether to allow former 

members to rejoin the board after a sabbatical. Term limits may cause new perspectives to 

be brought to the board, enhance the board’s creativity and dynamism, and make it more 

aware of and able to follow best practices in developing solutions to any challenges that 

may arise. 

10) Ensure annual reports and midyear reports include all required components and require that 

documentation be maintained to support and justify all amounts represented in the reports. 

11) Ensure annual reports reflect information explaining whether actual expenses funded by 

property assessment revenue were within 10 percent of budgeted amounts and whether 

actual expenses exceeded the total amount budgeted. 

12) Continue with efforts to implement a timekeeping process that tracks employee time by 

activities performed so that their efforts can be appropriately allocated among budget 

categories. 

13) Ensure annual reports include information regarding the ending cumulative operating 

reserve balance. 

14) Ensure annual reports explain the amount of revenue surplus (or deficit) for the prior fiscal 

year separated by property assessment and non-property assessment revenues. OAA should 

designate how the surplus revenues will be used, such as funding operating reserves or 

funding specific activities identified in its management plan and ensure such designations 

are reflected on the upcoming annual budget. 

15) Implement a system, such as an electronic documentation management system, to maintain 

supporting documentation for all expenditures. Documentation should include contracts, 

invoices, payroll records, and receipts. 

16) . Add the following to its newly developed financial policies: a) additional guidance for 

grant activities; b) a requirement that balance sheet information and cashflow forecasts be 

in the monthly reports the board receives, and include budget and actual operating 

statement variances, along with beginning and ending fund balances and reserves. 
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17) Ensure financial policy requirements are consistent with existing practices. For example, 

the check signers required by the policy must be consistent with the authorized signers on 

OAA’s bank accounts. 

18) Only pay grant expenses after obtaining sufficient support for services provided and only 

seek grant reimbursements when able to justify expenses. 

19) Implement effective grant management policies and procedures, including those that will 

result in strong records management practices. The policies and procedures should require 

that pre-award documents, agreement documents, financial documents, project documents, 

and general documents are obtained and retained.ii 

OEWD has worked extensively over the years with this organization to help it address many of the issues 

highlighted in the audit. This includes organizing training from the City Attorney, providing technical 

assistance to previous executive directors and the board, explaining their responsibilities, and how to 

accomplish them, to both the board and previous executive directors, and providing funding to identify and 

address shortfalls. Should the organization not show significant progress in by January 2024 on many of 

these factors, OEWD will consult with the City Attorney on all options the city may utilize with this 

organization, including the potential suspension of assessment distributions.  

Although not in this reporting period, OEWD would like to acknowledge significant strides have been in 

FY 22-23. In particular, hiring an experience executive director in Christian Martin has helped stabilize the 

organization and significantly improve its service delivery, organizational effectiveness, and financial 

stability. OEWD looks forward to monitoring the progress Mr. Martin and his team make in FY 22-23 and 

beyond. Should the organization not continue to improve significantly, as it has, OEWD will explore all 

options to ensure the organization follows through on improving itself. 

Ocean Avenue CBD does not have surveillance technology and did comply with OEWD’s memorandum 

regarding it. OEWD received numerous complaints regarding Brown Act violations in FY 21-22 by the 

organization, but not receive any complaints regarding violations of the California Public Records Act. 

OEWD provided complainants with the remedies set forth in the Brown Act. OEWD received numerous 

complaints regarding the core service delivery of the CBD toward the end of the fiscal year which it passed 

on to the organization. OEWD will monitor the organization for improvements in all areas throughout FY 

22-23 and make further recommendations based on progress or stagnation in the next annual report.  

Conclusion 

The Ocean Avenue CBD did not meet 2 of the 4 benchmarks it is required to meet. The organization 

made significant attempts to follow through on the Plan recommendations, but many of these were 

accomplished at a slow pace. The CBD should increase efforts to market itself, its services, and to interact 

with the merchant community. Finally, the entire organization needs to take the recommendations and 

corrective actions seriously.  

 

i Office of the Controller audit, “Ocean Ave Association Generally Complies With Some Provisions of the 

Management Agreement but the Board of Directors Does Not Effectively Govern the Organization or Community 

Benefit District”, dated June 30, 2023 
ii Ibid 
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Report Highlights 
Sjoberg Evashenk Consulting, Inc., was engaged by the Office of the Controller’s City Services Auditor to audit the 
management agreement between the City and County of San Francisco (City) and the Ocean Avenue Association 
(OAA), including determining whether OAA complies with terms of the agreement, manages the Ocean Avenue 
Community Benefit District (CBD) effectively and efficiently, and administers City-funded grants appropriately.  
 
KEY FINDINGS 
OAA Board of Directors Does Not Effectively Govern the Organization or District 

OAA lacks adequate controls over critical operational functions. For example, some members of its Board of Directors (board) 
do not always exhibit a tone that promotes the importance of strong controls; the organizational structure is ineffective with 
unclear roles and responsibilities; policies and procedures to guide basic organizational processes have not been established; 
and goals, metrics, and methods to evaluate program performance have not been implemented. The lack of an adequate 
control environment is particularly important as OAA is considering renewing and expanding the CBD, which will significantly 
increase the size and scope of OAA’s responsibilities. Also, OAA board meetings have not fully complied with statutory 
requirements, conflict-of-interest obligations have not been fully addressed, and stakeholders have expressed concerns about 
the lack of board member term limits.  

OAA Does Not Fully Comply With Some Key Provisions of Its Management Agreement With the City 

OAA complies with key provisions of its management agreement, including those regarding administering district services, 
maintaining its corporate and nonprofit status in good standing, and ensuring at least 1 percent of revenues are derived from 
sources other than property assessments. However, OAA does not fully comply with other provisions related to preparing 
annual and midyear reports, ensuring budget allocations align with requirements, demonstrating assessment funds are used 
only for eligible expenditures, and maintaining sufficient accounting records.  

OAA Implemented Many of the Strategic Plan’s Recommendations 

The board’s strategic plan covers organization, operational, and financial topics and includes recommendations related to 
board responsibilities, personnel development, district renewal efforts, financial policies, and annual work plans. The board 
implemented many of the plan’s recommendations, including adopting a board member handbook. Although the board also 
adopted a financial policy, the policy does not require that the monthly financial reports shared with board members include 
balance sheet information and cashflow forecasts. The board is still in the process of implementing a few recommendations, 
including adopting an annual work plan with expectations, goals, and scheduled updates; the first work plan is slated for fiscal 
year 2023-24.  

OAA Does Not Always Properly Administer Grant Agreements 

OAA did not always properly administer its grant agreements and failed to implement grant management policies, creating an 
environment in which key grant documents cannot be located and grant activities cannot be adequately supported. OAA also 
paid some consultants without sufficient support for services and could not justify some expenses associated with staff efforts.  

The board has recently begun addressing many of the issues discussed in this report, including by hiring an experienced 
executive director to facilitate new strategic planning activities, take over all day-to-day management activities, and implement 
program improvements. The board also engaged a training consultant to improve the functioning of the board. The consultant 
intends to help board members better understand their legal and financial responsibilities and help them differentiate between 
the duties and responsibilities of board members and those of the executive director.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
The report offers 19 recommendations to the Office of Economic and Workforce Development and the Ocean Avenue 
Association Board of Directors to improve OAA’s control environment and ensure its obligations and responsibilities are 
fulfilled.  
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Introduction and Background 

The California Streets and Highways Code, Section 36600, permits local property owners in a specified 
geographical area to create a community benefit district (CBD), which has the power to levy special tax 
assessments on property owners within the district boundaries to fund neighborhood improvements and 
ongoing maintenance of the public realm (graffiti removal, tree pruning, sidewalk gardens, etc.). A CBD can 
only be formed by majority vote of all property owners within the district boundaries and, in San Francisco, 
is subject to approval by the San Francisco Board of Supervisors. Once a CBD is formed, the City and 
County of San Francisco (City) must establish a management agreement with the CBD’s management 
corporation and collect the annual assessment that will fund the CBD. Each year, property owners who pay 
50 percent or more of the assessments levied for the CBD may request that the Board of Supervisors 
disestablish the CBD. In California, CBDs are also referred to as Business Improvement Districts. 

Ocean Avenue CBD’s Formation 
The Ocean Avenue Revitalization Collaborative, composed of local merchants, property owners, and 
residents, worked to form a CBD along San Francisco’s Ocean Avenue. On December 14, 2010, the Board 
of Supervisors approved the formation of the Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District (OACBD). On May 
24, 2011, the Board of Supervisors approved a management agreement between the City and the Ocean 
Avenue Association (OAA), a nonprofit corporation formed to manage OACBD, for the administration and 
management of the OACBD, which is set to sunset on June 30, 2025, unless renewed. The Office of 
Economic and Workforce Development (OEWD) manages the agreement with OAA on behalf of the City.  

OACBD’s Management Plan 
When a CBD is being formed, the California Streets and Highways Code, Section 36621, requires that a 
management plan be developed to describe the district’s functions and activities and must include key 
information, such as:  

• A map in sufficient detail to locate each assessed property and description of the boundaries.  

• Improvements, services, and activities to be funded.  

• Total annual amount to be expended.  

• Proposed source(s) of financing.  

• Time and manner of collecting assessments and number of years assessments will be levied.  

• Rules and regulations applicable to the district.  

• Listing of the properties to be assessed.  

OACBD’s Boundaries and Activities 
The OACBD’s boundaries include properties that front Ocean Avenue from Manor Drive on the west 
running along Ocean Avenue to Interstate 280. There are 148 properties, which are separated into two 
separate benefit zones: 
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• Zone 1: 145 properties of a variety of different land use types such as commercial, nonprofit, 
religious, public, and residential. 

• Zone 2: 3 properties, including a portion of San Francisco City College’s Ocean Avenue campus, 
Lick-Wilmerding High School, and a city-owned landscaped property. 

The improvements, services, and activities provided in the management plan include a Cleaning, 
Maintenance, and Safety program along Ocean Avenue; a Marketing, Streetscape Improvements, and 
Beautification program to promote the Ocean Avenue commercial district; and various administrative and 
management activities that support program efforts. To fund these activities, OAA adopts an annual budget 
that estimates annual revenues and expenditures. Past budgeted amounts are shown in Exhibit 1.  

Exhibit 1. OAA Annual Revenue and Expenditure Budget Amounts 

 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

 OAA Revenue  $530,649 $492,970 $568,650 $587,569 

 OAA Expenses  $592,017 $554,258 $575,013 $624,357 

OAA’s Organization  
OAA’s Board of Directors (board) has 13 members who represent the district’s residents, property owners, 
community organizations, nonprofit arts organizations, government and educational institutions, and 
businesses. Property owners paying the CBD assessment must be at least 50 percent of the board and 
non-property-owning businesses must be at least 20 percent. The board also includes representatives from 
neighborhood organizations. 

OAA contracts with a part-time executive director and employs a full-time deputy director and a full-time 
small business and marketing manager.  

OAA formed the Ingleside Community Fund (ICF) in 2018 as its 501(c)(3) charity arm because OAA at the 
time was a 501(c)(4) nonprofit corporation. In 2019, the IRS determined that OAA was exempt from federal 
income tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) allowing donors to deduct contributions made 
to OAA. As such, OAA and ICF merged on April 25, 2022 with OAA as the surviving corporation and ICF as 
the disappearing and defunct corporation.  

OACBD’s Renewal and Expansion  
OAA is exploring renewing and expanding the CBD before it sunsets on June 30, 2025. Renewing a CBD 
requires a majority vote of all property owners within the district boundaries and involves the same steps as 
initially establishing a CBD. OAA has begun the process, including hiring a consultant to prepare the new 
management plan and engineer’s report. OAA is seeking to expand the CBD to include adjacent areas in 
the district. If the expansion is approved, it is anticipated to more than double OACBD’s annual budget. 
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Scope and Methodology 

In September 2022, Sjoberg Evashenk Consulting, working on behalf of the San Francisco City Services 
Auditor (CSA), commenced an audit of the management agreement between the City and County of San 
Francisco (City) and the Ocean Avenue Association (OAA). Specifically, Sjoberg Evashenk Consulting set 
out to accomplish the following audit objectives: 

• Determine whether OAA managed the organizational structure of the Ocean Avenue Community 
Benefit District (CBD) effectively and efficiently. 

o Implemented the strategic plan in a timely manner. 
o Ensured the board effectively governs and complies with applicable laws and regulations. 

• Determine whether OAA complied with the terms of the management agreement. 

• Determine whether OAA administered grant(s) funded by the City in accordance with applicable 
laws, regulations, and terms of the grant agreement(s). 

The audit period was July 1, 2018, through June 30, 2022.  
To meet the audit’s objectives, we performed number of tasks, including the following: 

• Held multiple interviews with current and former board members and OAA staff, bookkeeper, and 
board consultants as well as OEWD management and staff.  

• Identified criteria from applicable California laws, including Streets and Highways Code, 
Government Code, and Corporations Code and assessed OAA’s compliance. 

• Identified key contract requirements, including submitting annual and mid-year reports, using 
assessment funding only on eligible expenditures reflected in the approved budget, conducting 
annual outreach/informational meetings, preparing assessment data for tax statements/bills, and 
submitting required financial statements. For each key contract requirement, conduct various 
testing to ensure compliance, including expenditure testing.  

• Identified the universe of grant agreements funded by the City and active during the audit period 
and identified key provisions, including scope of work, allowable vs. unallowable costs and 
activities, and reporting requirements. Compared grant activities and expenditures against contract 
requirements and OAA financial policies and procedures to determine if OAA complied with the 
terms of the grant agreements.  

• Determined OAA’s status implementing each strategic plan recommendation.  

Audit work was performed from September 2022 through March 2023. A draft of this report was provided to 
the board chair and executive director for review and discussion and an exit meeting was held on March 
31, 2023. The responses and feedback provided by OAA representatives were considered and 
incorporated where appropriate in the final report.  
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We conducted this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate 
evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We 
believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on 
our audit objectives.   
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Finding 1. OAA Board of Directors Does Not Effectively Govern 
the Organization or District 

Although OAA has been in existence for more than fifteen years to manage the district, it lacks adequate 
controls over critical operational functions one would expect of a mature organization. For example:  

• Board members do not always exhibit a tone that promotes the importance of strong controls. 

• OAA’s organizational structure is ineffective, with unclear roles and responsibilities. 

• Policies and procedures to guide basic organizational processes were not established until 
recently. 

• Goals, metrics, and methods to evaluate program performance have not been implemented.  

Also, as a nonprofit corporation formed to manage a community benefit district established pursuant to the 
California Streets and Highways Code, Section 36621, which imputes the authority to levy taxes and 
expend public resources, OAA must comply with certain provisions of California law related to public 
meetings. However, we found that OAA board meetings have not fully complied with requirements related 
to board proceedings or responsibilities related to conflict-of-interest obligations. Also, stakeholders 
expressed concerns about the lack of board member term limits.  

The issues discussed in this finding are particularly important given that OAA is considering renewing and 
expanding the CBD, which, if successful, will significantly increase the size and scope of the organization’s 
responsibilities and activities. Several of these problems were also identified in OAA’s January 2021 
Strategic Plan, a report intended to provide recommendations on alternative approaches to increase OAA’s 
organizational effectiveness.  

The board has recently begun addressing the issues by hiring an experienced executive director to 
facilitate new strategic planning activities, take over all day-to-day management activities, and implement 
program improvements. The board also recently hired a training consultant. Training topics will include 
improving board members’ understanding of legal and financial responsibilities and differentiating the duties 
and responsibilities of the board and the executive director.  

Board Members Do Not Always Foster a Strong Control Environment 

Through our many meetings with past and present board members, we found that OAA did not foster an 
organizational culture or environment that emphasizes adherence to sound policies, procedures, rules, 
protocols, or best practices. While the board chair and new executive director articulated a clear 
understanding of the importance of a strong control environment, at least one board member expressed 
views that having policies and procedures and maintaining documentation is relatively unimportant or 
unnecessary, particularly because of the organization’s small size. 

An organization’s “control environment” refers to the attitudes and actions of the organization regarding the 
significance of control, which provides discipline and structure for achieving core objectives. The control 
environment is the foundation for ensuring the effectiveness of all other components of internal control in 
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the organization. Although OAA is a small, California nonprofit public benefit corporation, an environment of 
strong controls is particularly important because most of OAA’s funding comes from local tax assessments 
and internal control weaknesses could result in the loss or inefficient use of public monies.  

OAA’s Organizational Structure Is Ineffective, With Unclear Roles and Responsibilities 

The organizational structure established by the board does not delineate the roles of the board or 
distinguish them from those of management and staff. Consequently, board members, management, and 
staff do not have a common understanding of what is expected of each. This is evidenced by the fact that 
board members often perform day-to-day management activities, such as managing budgets and grant 
agreements, preparing financial reports and tax returns, and approving all contracts and expenditures.  

A widespread perception exists among OAA’s internal and external stakeholders that the past two 
executive directors, although they worked hard for the organization, were inexperienced and/or ineffective, 
which often caused board members to involve themselves in day-to-day organizational activities. However, 
it is unclear what activities the past executive directors performed, let alone whether they had any 
performance issues or shortcomings, because the Board did not formally document or assess the executive 
directors’ performance. 

Based on best practices promulgated by the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) and the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), a “system of internal 
control” broadly refers to the policies, procedures, processes, systems, and methods that an organization 
relies on to ensure that it achieves its mission, goals, and objectives on an ongoing basis. 

A key characteristic of an effective system of internal control is the separation between management and 
governance responsibilities: 

• Management. Management is responsible for all activities of an organization, including making 
decisions regarding the acquisition, deployment, and control of human, financial, physical, and 
intangible resources. Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and 
operating effectiveness of the organization’s system of internal control. For example, management 
assigns operational responsibilities, establishes written policies and procedures, and monitors 
personnel and contractors to ensure that programs and activities are being carried out as intended 
based on direction from the organization’s governing body. 

As it relates to OAA, it would be expected that management would lead the day-to-day activities 
needed to fulfil the board’s vision. The duties and responsibilities of management would generally 
include making operational policies and decisions, keeping the board educated and informed so it 
can make appropriate decisions, and bringing well-documented recommendations and information 
to the board.  
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• Governance. An organization’s governing body (e.g., board of directors) is responsible for 
overseeing the strategic direction of the organization and obligations related to the accountability of 
the organization. This includes overseeing management’s design, implementation, and operation of 
an internal control system. For some organizations, one or a few members of senior management 
may also be part of the organization’s governing body. However, the governance role is distinct 
from that of management. 

Consistent with this role, the OAA board’s duties and responsibilities would generally include 
establishing OAA’s vision, mission, and strategic planning goals, as well as choosing the executive 
director, setting high-level policies, making major decisions, measuring performance and 
achievements, and serving OAA’s stakeholders. The board should concentrate its efforts on 
matters that may have a negative impact on OAA or that have significant financial stakes.  

Because the board has misdirected its efforts, it has not established a strategic vision or set 
priorities to ensure OAA’s program goals are achieved and funding is spent in an organized 
manner. Unfortunately, this has led to infighting among board members, board meetings that 
sometimes lack decorum, and a high turnover rate among board members. 

According to organizational life cycle theory, during an organization’s start-up phase, a governing board is 
often involved in performing management functions. However, for organizations in the growth phase and 
mature organizations, the governing board is a policy-setting and oversight body that is separate from the 
management function. 

The board has recently taken steps to improve the effectiveness of its organizational structure. Namely, in 
September 2022, OAA hired a new executive director who had successfully managed another CBD in San 
Francisco. The new executive director plans to initiate the board’s strategic planning activities, take over 
day-to-day management activities, and facilitate and control board meetings. Although hiring an 
experienced executive director is a positive step, challenges remain, and it is important that the board 
support the executive director in managing the organization and implementing the board’s decisions. For 
example, at a contentious January 2023 board meeting, it was noted that the board’s treasurer was 
hesitant to provide the new executive director with certain budget-related information. And, in November 
2022, the board hired a training consultant to train members on the roles, responsibilities, and expectations 
of a board of directors, including duties and responsibilities of board members and the executive director.  

Until Recently, Policies and Procedures to Guide Basic Organizational Processes Had Not Been 
Established, Causing OAA to Neglect Basic Financial Recordkeeping 

During the audit period, OAA did not have policies or internal guiding documents to assist those who carry 
out the organization’s responsibilities or to ensure an effective system of internal controls exists to protect 
against the risk of inappropriate or inaccurate transactions occurring. A comprehensive set of internal 
guiding materials is essential to establishing and communicating standard expectations focused on 
efficiency, effectiveness, strong controls, and compliance, and serving as easy-to-locate resource for 
guidance. 
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Leading practices suggest that organizational processes benefit from having guidance materials that serve 
a specific purpose, including:  

• Policies: Guidelines or laws that drive procedures and instructions.  

• Procedures: High-level descriptions of the purpose of the activity, required processes, and 
responsibilities.  

• Instructions: Detailed process explanations needed to accomplish a specific job or task. 

Without comprehensive policies or current, complete, and well-documented procedures, the board cannot 
be sure that its expectations are met, processes are employed consistently, program objectives are 
achieved, or funds are administered appropriately.  

The results of our testing of OAA’s expenditure activities show the detrimental impact of having no policies 
or procedures to guide basic processes or to establish expectations and requirements. We reviewed OAA’s 
expenditure activity to verify that funding was used only on eligible expenses and that expenses were 
reasonable and appropriate and properly approved and supported.1 In response to our request for the 
supporting documentation—such as contracts, invoices, payroll records, and receipts—for a sample of 29 
expenditures, OAA management was able to provide only partial support for only 4 of the expenditures 
selected and could not provide any documentation supporting expenditures in 25 (86 percent) of the 29 
transactions.  

According to management, it could not locate the documentation because it did not have a reliable file 
management system; instead, expenditure information was stored in various email accounts or in 
unorganized boxes. Ultimately, OAA could not demonstrate that its funding—generated from property tax 
assessments and city grants—was used appropriately or that it complied with applicable rules and 
requirements.  

The board has recently taken steps to implement some policies and procedures. In early 2020, OAA was 
awarded a grant by the City’s Office of Economic and Workforce Development (OEWD) to build OAA’s 
capacity and efficiency as it anticipates expanding the CBD, which was expected to significantly increase 
the size and scope of organization’s responsibilities and activities. In April 2021, the grant contract was 
amended to provide additional funding to develop financial, operational, and organizational policies and 
procedures. In late 2022, OAA submitted some related policies to OWED for review and approval.  

Given its likely expansion, OAA should continue efforts to establish policies, procedures, and instructions 
that cover operational and administrative activities and topics, such as conflict of interest, budgeting, 
grants, expenditures, bank reconciliations, procurement, contracting, and record retention. Because 
policies and procedures are only effective when they are accepted and implemented by the employees as 
well as supported and enforced by management, it is imperative that a comprehensive set of policies and 

 
1 As discussed in detail in Finding 3, we selected 29 transactions totaling $114,439, or 7 percent of total expenses, during the 
audit period. These transactions covered a wide range of individual expenditure types, including personnel, management, 
operational, and programmatic expenses. 
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procedures has the agreement and support of the board, management, and staff, and that monitoring 
processes are implemented to ensure compliance with the policies and procedures. 

Goals, Metrics, and Methods to Evaluate Program Performance Have Not Been Implemented 

OAA has not established goals or metrics to measure the performance of the two primary programs 
through which the OACBD provides community services:  

• Cleaning, Maintenance, and Safety program—sidewalk sweeping, refuse removal, steam 
cleaning and pressure washing, graffiti removal, tree pruning and watering, tree well weeding with 
crushed granite replenishment, and safety efforts. This program is OAA’s largest and should 
consume 52 percent of OAA’s budgeted expenditures. 

• Marketing, Streetscape, and Beautification program—hosting special events and concerts, 
decorating for holidays, conducting promotional activities, and providing business technical 
assistance. This program should consume 18 percent of OAA’s budgeted expenditures. 

Based on our interviews, the widespread perception among internal and external stakeholders is that the 
cleaning-focused program performs well, but that the efforts associated with the marketing-focused 
program have been ineffective.  

Although OAA’s management plan lists some basic cleaning tasks to be accomplished, OAA had no goals, 
metrics, or methods to effectively evaluate the performance of either program. While one can see program 
inputs (e.g., assessment and grant dollars) and outputs (e.g., purchasing cleaning services, funding events, 
and contacting merchants), this information only indicates that money was spent on activities, but cannot 
reveal if the intended results, such as corridor cleaning and promotion, were effectively and efficiently 
achieved.  

When only considering program inputs, OAA did not allocate the required portion of its annual budgets to 
the two programs, as discussed in the contract compliance summary regarding budget allocation 
requirements. Also, the vendor used to provide the bulk of the cleaning program services submitted some 
output service indicators to OAA that focus primarily on hours spent and pounds of waste removed. This 
limited output information alone does not provide insight into the effectiveness of the services provided. 

To determine the performance of a program, one must establish criteria and objectives and collect relevant 
data, and measure these factors to assess outcomes and results, such performance measurement allows 
the board and management to determine whether program efforts and funds achieve goals and are 
operating effectively and efficiently.  

The board has recently taken steps to improve the services and activities of its two programs. For example, 
the new executive director created an ambassador program staffed with OAA employees to provide 
cleaning services rather than outsourcing these efforts to a vendor. OAA believes this approach will allow 
more control over the cleaning program and make it easier to measure the program’s performance. The 
executive director also plans to work with the board to establish measurable goals and metrics for both 
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programs. Using an in-house program to provide cleaning services will also promote OAA by increasing its 
visibility as staff working in the community will wear OAA-branded uniforms. 

Board Meetings Do Not Fully Comply With the Brown Act  

The board has complied with many aspects of state law regarding its make-up and meetings, such as 
diligently working to ensure appropriate board member composition, posting meeting notices and agendas 
in a timely manner, and providing adequate time for public comment. However, our review of the board’s 
committee meeting minutes found that the board appears not to have fully complied with all provisions of 
the Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act) or requirements of the California Corporations Code. Such compliance 
is required not only under state law,2 but also under the provisions of OAA’s management agreement with 
the City and OAA’s By-Laws. Because the board did not comply with various requirements, certain actions 
taken by the board may be considered invalid. Specifically:  

• None of the minutes for board meetings held by teleconference since June 2020 reflect evidence of 
the legally required roll call votes.3  

• None of the minutes for board meetings since September 16, 2021, reflect evidence of the legally 
required vote on declaring a “state of emergency.”4 

• None of the minutes for board meetings held by teleconference after July 1, 2022, reflect evidence 
of either the legally required consent of all board members or the legally required “state of 
emergency” declaration to conduct meetings via teleconference.5 

Because the board did not take the required roll call votes on motions during meetings conducted by 
teleconference, motions the board passed on or after June 17, 2020, may be invalid. Also, because the 
board does not appear to have declared a state of emergency (as required by the Government Code) 
during that time, board motions passed on or after October 18, 2021, may be invalid. 

We also found other instances of the board failing to comply with the Brown Act, as follows. 

• Meeting attendees have a right to anonymity. All board meeting agendas for meetings held on 
or after January 10, 2022, instructed members of the public to spell their first and last names when 
making a public comment, but did not state that providing their names is voluntary. Although the 
board can ask speakers to spell their names (to ensure they are correctly reflected on the minutes), 
speakers have the right to decline to do so because state law gives public meeting attendees the 
right to be anonymous.6 Thus, the instruction in the board’s meeting agendas directing speakers to 

 
2 California Streets and Highway Code § 36612 requires owners’ associations, such as OAA, to comply with the Ralph M. Brown Act. 
3 California Government Code § 54953(b)(2). 
4 Ibid., § 54953(e)(3), effective September 16, 2021. California’s COVID-19 state of emergency ended on February 28, 2023. 
5 California Corporations Code § 5510, effective July 1, 2022. California’s COVID-19 state of emergency ended on February 28, 2023. 
6 Government Code § 54953.3 states that “A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a meeting of a 
legislative body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to provide other information, to complete a questionnaire, or otherwise to fulfill 
any condition precedent to his or her attendance. If an attendance list, register, questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at or near 
the entrance to the room where the meeting is to be held, or is circulated to the persons present during the meeting, it shall state clearly that 
the signing, registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, and that all persons may attend the meeting regardless of whether a 
person signs, registers, or completes the document.” 
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spell their names, without stating that such identification is voluntary, may violate those individuals’ 
right to anonymity. Further, on October 17, 2021, the City Attorney’s Office gave a presentation to 
the board stating that speakers at public meetings have a right to anonymity.7  

• Business items may be discussed only during board meetings. Before the call to order of the 
April 17, 2019, board meeting, a quorum of board members discussed items of board business. 
Although the discussion appeared to last less than five minutes, the Brown Act prohibits a quorum 
of board members from discussing items of business (i.e., anything in OAA’s jurisdiction) outside of 
a board meeting.8 

According to OAA, in March 2023 the City Attorney’s Office provided extensive Brown Act training to the 
board that covered topics including those associated with all findings in this summary. 

OAA Does Not Sufficiently Fulfill Its Conflict-of-Interest Obligations 

OAA lacks a policy to sufficiently prescribe what must be done to identify, evaluate, and resolve potential 
conflicts of interest. According to the board, the corporation’s conflict-of-interest policy is in its By-Laws. 
However, while OAA’s By-Laws provide some conflict-of-interest guidance for OAA board members or 
“interested persons”9 covering contracting activities, this information is spread among three sections of the 
By-Laws, which makes the requirements difficult to find and, possibly, unclear. Further, we found no 
evidence that the By-Laws had been distributed to all OAA “interested persons.”10 It is reasonable to 
assume that those not employed by OAA would not seek, obtain, or review its By-Laws, so would not have 
even a rudimentary knowledge of OAA’s conflict-of-interest policy.  

Guidance specifically for board members is reflected in a newly developed board member handbook, but 
the discussion of conflicts of interest there is insufficient, stating only that board members shall avoid 
conflicts of interest. Similarly, OAA’s newly developed personnel policy only warns employees that a 
conflict of interest is a basis for disciplinary action. Neither defines or explains what actions may constitute 
a conflict of interest, identifies individuals subject to conflict-of-interest requirements, or specifies the 
circumstances in which a conflict of interest could arise.  

We found no evidence that OAA routinely trains the board on conflicts of interest. This conflicts with OAA’s 
statement on a form it filed with the Internal Revenue Service that OAA monitors and enforces conflicts of 
interest by “…explaining the policy to board members on a regular basis…”11 Without sufficient written 
guidance or routine training, we find this assertion to be inadequate, particularly since it does not address 
how conflicts are monitored or enforced.  

 
7 Board meeting of October 18, 2021, https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VSjVbWS3_p87gG7sYVCy4exYjvQ7fXoM/view 
8 Government Code § 54952.2(b)(1) states that “…[a] majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting authorized by 
this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of 
business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body…” 
9 Any person compensated by the corporation for services rendered within the previous 12 months, whether as a full-time or part-time 
employee, independent contractor, or otherwise, excluding any reasonable compensation paid to a Director as a Director; and (2) any brother, 
sister, ancestor, descendant, spouse, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, or father-in-law of such person. 
10 The By-Laws define “interested persons” as employees, independent contractors, and their close family members. 
11 IRS Form 990, Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax, year ended June 30, 2021, Information Return Schedule O. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VSjVbWS3_p87gG7sYVCy4exYjvQ7fXoM/view
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Strong conflict-of-interest policies should be comprehensive, centrally located, and easily accessible. These 
policies should be sufficiently detailed to ensure nothing is left to interpretation and that OAA’s board 
members, employees, and interested persons understand their obligations and responsibilities. Best 
practices suggest that a conflict-of-interest policy should also require each board member to file an annual 
statement of disclosable interest with the board’s secretary. If there are no disclosable interests, the 
statement should indicate this. Conflicts of interest, real or perceived, can erode public trust and damage 
OAA’s reputation, and may lead to financial and legal liabilities.  

Concerns Raised About Lack of Board Member Term Limits 

OAA’s By-Laws permit board members to serve two-year terms with no term limits. We interviewed ten 
current and former board members, and five expressed concerns about how long some board members 
have served. Specifically, although most of those interviewed indicated that OAA’s board members are 
dedicated and hard-working, several expressed concern that the engrained perspectives of some of OAA’s 
longest-serving members stifle the ability of new members to bring fresh ideas and approaches to the 
board for consideration.  

Research shows that term limits are common among nonprofit boards. In 2021, BoardSource12 reported 
that 54 percent of nonprofit boards of directors have term limits13 and provided sound reasons for boards to 
set such limits.14 Term limits provide numerous benefits, including: 

• Making it easier to diversify a board, which can bring new ideas and new perspectives to the board 
and its decision-making process. 

• Enabling a board to avoid stagnation, fatigue, boredom, and loss of commitment that can set in 
when board members serve for a long duration. 

• Enabling a board to avoid the concentration of power in a subset of board members and the 
intimidation of new members by this dominant group. 

• Raising awareness of and providing opportunities to change and improve a board’s group 
dynamics. 

• Providing a respectful and efficient mechanism for passive, ineffective, or troublesome members to 
leave a board. 

• Enlarging a board’s circle of committed supporters as members leave the board over time. 
• Enabling a board to easily adjust its membership to reflect the changing needs of the organization 

the board oversees. 

Setting term limits is not without risk. For example, it can create challenges such as loss of institutional 
knowledge. However, given the concerns raised by some current and former OAA board members and 
given that term limits are becoming increasingly prevalent among elected governance bodies, the OAA 

 
12 Formerly the National Center for Nonprofit Boards, BoardSource is a nonprofit organization founded in 1988 that specializes in board 
leadership research, leadership, and support.  
13 BoardSource, Leading With Intent, 2021 Revision, page 74. 
14 BoardSource, Term Limits, https://boardsource.org/resources/term-
limits/#:~:text=Term%20limits%20help%20prevent%20board,executive%20from%20an%20ineffective%20chair. 
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board should consider term limits for its members, including whether to allow former board members to 
rejoin the board after a sabbatical. More than 30 percent of the current board members have been on the 
board since its formation over a decade ago. 

Recommendations 

To improve its control environment and ensure its obligations and responsibilities are fulfilled, the Office of 
Economic and Workforce Development should ensure that the Ocean Avenue Association Board of 
Directors: 

1. Set a “tone at the top” that promotes the importance of strong controls and demonstrates 
accountability to all organizational policies and procedures.  

2. Formally establish a clear vision and common understanding of its members’ duties and 
responsibilities and how they differ from those of OAA’s executive director and staff. Board 
members’ duties and responsibilities should focus on OAA’s vision, mission, and strategic planning 
goals and policies, while the executive director’s duties and responsibilities should focus on day-to-
day activities needed to fulfill the board’s vision. Ensure the board evaluates the executive 
director's performance in writing at least annually. 

3. Require that a comprehensive, easy-to-locate set of internal policies and procedures be created 
and implemented for all operational areas and activities. The guidance should establish and 
communicate standard expectations focused on efficiency, effectiveness, consistency, strong 
controls, and compliance.  

4. Ensure the policies and procedures that are created have the agreement and support of OAA’s 
board, management, and staff, and that monitoring processes are implemented to ensure 
compliance.  

5. Work with the executive director to establish measurable goals and metrics for the Cleaning, 
Maintenance, and Safety program and Marketing, Streetscape, and Beautification program.  

6. Require the executive director to summarize in writing and distribute to the board all applicable 
provisions of the California Corporations Code, Section 5233, and the California Government 
Code, Section 54950 et seq. Board members should then familiarize themselves with these 
provisions.  

7. Develop, document, and implement policies and procedures related to conflicts of interest for the 
board and OAA staff. The guidance should describe in detail situations that could be a conflict of 
interest, OAA’s monitoring processes for conflicts of interest, and OAA’s annual reporting of 
interests to ensure compliance with all applicable provisions of the California Corporations Code, 
Section 5233, and the California Government Code, Section 54950 et seq. The conflict-of-interest 
guidance should be incorporated in the board’s Handbook and OAA’s personnel policies and 
procedures, as applicable.  
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8. Research and implement best practices of city committees of similar size and/or scope and what 
state law requires to help ensure the board fully complies with the Ralph M. Brown Act. This 
research could include listening to a recorded meeting of the San Francisco Public Utilities 
Commission Revenue Bond Oversight Committee (audio archive at granicus.com) to learn how 
that body conducts its meetings, reading the agenda of the same meeting, and becoming familiar 
with the requirements of California Government Code sections 54952-54953.3. The board should 
then agree upon the best practices and implement them in its procedures. 

9. Consider establishing term limits for its members, including whether to allow former members to 
rejoin the board after a sabbatical. Term limits may cause new perspectives to be brought to the 
board, enhance the board’s creativity and dynamism, and make it more aware of and able to follow 
best practices in developing solutions to any challenges that may arise.  

 

 
  

http://sanfrancisco.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=97


 

SJOBERGEVASHENK  P a g e  | 16 

Finding 2. OAA Does Not Fully Comply With Some Key Provisions 
of Its Management Agreement With the City  
 
OAA complied with some, but not all, of the key provisions in its management agreement with the City.15 To 
its credit, we found that OAA: 

• Administered district services and activities outlined in its management plan. 
• Maintained its corporate and nonprofit status in good standing. 
• Conducted annual meetings.16 
• Ensured at least 1 percent of revenues were derived from sources other than property 

assessments, such as grants. 
• Hired a consulting firm to maintain a database of all parcel assessments. 

However, OAA did not fully comply with several key provisions of its management agreement, as reflected 
in Exhibit 2.  

Exhibit 2. Key Management Agreement Provisions With Which OAA Did Not Fully Comply 

Key Provision Agreement Section 

Laws and 
Regulations 

Comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including 
California’s Ralph M. Brown Act. 

3.1 and 3.8 

Reports Submit annual and midyear reports prepared in accordance with California Streets 
and Highways Code and management agreement.  

3.4 and 3.5 

Budgets Ensure budget allocation percentages for expenses funded by property 
assessment revenue are within 10 percent of allocations identified in management 
plan. Ensure actual expenses are within 10 percent of budgeted amounts and do 
not exceed total amount budgeted.  

3.9 

Expenditures Use assessment funds only for eligible and budgeted expenditures and maintain 
accounting records on amounts expended, including invoices, payrolls, and other 
data required, in a readily accessible location and condition. 

3.7 and 6.5 

As discussed in Finding 1, OAA did not fully comply with all provisions of the Brown Act or California 
Corporations Code requirements. Also, OAA did not fully comply with management agreement provisions 
related to reporting, budgets, and expenditures, as described on the following pages. 

 
15 On May 24, 2011, the Board of Supervisors approved the agreement, which states how the OACBD is to be administered and 
managed. Unless renewed, the agreement will expire on June 30, 2025. 
16 According to the board chair, meetings were not held in 2020 and 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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OAA Did Not Fully Meet Annual or Midyear Reporting Requirements  

According to state law17 and its management agreement with the City, OAA must submit annual reports 
that include specific information. As shown in Exhibit 3, OAA did not comply with some annual reporting 
requirements, particularly related to providing estimates of surplus and deficits revenue information.  

Exhibit 3. OAA’s Compliance With Key Annual Report Requirements 

Key Annual Report Requirement 
Did OAA Comply? 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 

Include improvements, maintenance, and activities 
with costs provided during the year.   X   

Describe method and basis for levying assessments.      
Estimate surplus and deficits in revenues carried over 
and designate how surplus will be used.  X X X X 

Estimate revenue from sources other than 
assessments.      

Provide proposed upcoming annual budget.      
Submit to OEWD and Board of Supervisors by July 31.  ? ? ? ? 

Legend:  = Yes; X = No; ? = Unknown  

Also, OAA must submit its annual reports to the Board of Supervisors for approval by July 31st each year. 
OEWD stated the submission deadline has been informally extended to October 31st for all CBDs because 
of the difficulty preparing annual reports at the end of the fiscal year. However, neither OAA nor OWED, the 
department that is the conduit for submission of the reports to the Board of Supervisors, knows OAA’s 
submission dates to OEWD, so we cannot determine whether OAA met either the required or informally 
extended submission deadline. 

Similarly, OAA must submit midyear reports, and include specified information, covering the first and 
second quarters of the fiscal year. As shown in Exhibit 4, OAA prepared midyear reports that did not 
comply with some requirements. Also, although OEWD indicated that OAA submits these required reports, 
neither OAA nor OWED maintains records of the submission dates. Thus, we cannot determine whether 
OAA met the January 31st submission deadline. 

  

 
17 California Streets and Highways Code, Section 36650. 
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Exhibit 4. OAA’s Compliance With Key Midyear Report Requirements 

Key Midyear Report Requirement 
Did OAA Comply? 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 
Provide status and progress of district programs 
referenced in management plan and annual reports.      

Summarize statistical/financial data, including actual 
versus budgeted expenditures.    X  

Specify status of each contract with third parties to 
provide/perform any district programs.  X   X 

Include amount of revenue from sources other than 
assessments.   X  

Submit to OEWD by January 31. ? ? ? ? 
Legend:  = Yes; X = No; ? = Unknown  

OAA Did Not Always Meet Requirements Related to Budget and Expense Allocations and Did Not 
Properly Report Surplus Property Assessment Revenues to OEWD 

According to various sections of the management agreement and state law,18 OAA is required to adhere to 
certain revenue, expense, and budget allocation and reporting requirements. However, OAA did not always 
meet the requirements, as described below.  

OAA Did Not Always Meet Requirements Related to Budget and Expense Allocations  
According to the management agreement, Section 3.9, OAA’s budget allocation percentages for expenses 
funded by property assessment revenue must be within 10 percent of the original budget detailed in OAA’s 
management plan. Our comparison of OAA’s budget allocation for the four fiscal years covered by this 
audit with the required budget allocation found that OAA has not always met the required percentage 
allocation, as shown in Exhibit 5.  

  

 
18 Ibid., Section 36650(B)(6). 
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Exhibit 5. OAA Budget Allocations for Expenses Funded by Property Tax Assessments, Fiscal 
Years 2018-19 Through 2021-22 

Expense Category 
Required Budget 

Allocation Per 
Management Plan 

2018-19 Budget 
Allocation 

2019-20 Budget 
Allocation 

2020-21 Budget 
Allocation 

2021-22 Budget 
Allocation 

Program: Cleaning, 
Maintenance, and Safety 52% $173,500 

42% 
$180,793 

42%  
$165,900 

48% 
$156,000 

37% X 

Program: Marketing, 
Streetscape Improvements, 
and Beautification 

18% $36,050 
9%  

$56,550 
13%  

$33,873 
10% 

$52,789 
12% 

Management and 
Operations 26% $193,090 

46% X 
$176,982 

41% X 
$134,240 

38% X 
$202,871 

48% X 

Contingency and Reserves 4% $15,000 
4% 

$15,000 
3%  

$15,000 
4% 

$15,000 
4% 

Total 100% $417,640 $429,325 $349,013 $426,660 

Legend:   = Meets required % allocation  X = Does not meet required % allocation  
Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 percent due to rounding. 

The management and operations expense category has the allocation percentage that differs the most 
from the requirement: it consumed an average of 43 percent of the budget compared to the 26 percent 
budget allocation permitted for it under the management plan. According to OAA, the deviation partly 
results from the fact that some management and operations payroll-related expenses should be re-
categorized under the two program categories because employees spend some of their time working on 
both program activities. Although this may be true, it was not reflected in OAA’s financial records.  

Although OAA did re-categorize some management and operations budgeted expenses to the two program 
categories for most years, it did so only in the annual reports submitted to OWED for purposes of meeting 
the allocation requirement. Further, because OAA does not track its staff time by activity or category, it 
cannot fully explain how the recategorized amounts reflected in the annual reports were calculated. OAA’s 
new executive director plans to implement a timekeeping process that will track employee time by the 
activities performed, so OAA can appropriately allocate staff’s efforts among budget categories. 

The management agreement, Section 3.9, also requires OAA’s actual expenses funded by property 
assessment revenue to be within 10 percent of budgeted amounts and not to exceed the total amount 
budgeted. As show in Exhibit 6, for each of the four fiscal years covered by this audit, OAA generally did 
not meet this requirement, mostly significantly by underspending the Marketing, Streetscape 
Improvements, and Beautification program budgets during fiscal years 2019-20 through 2021-22. The 
underspending in this program during these three years ranged from 31 to 81 percent of its budget. 
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Exhibit 6. Budgeted Versus Actual Expenses Funded by Property Tax Assessments, Fiscal Years 
2018-19 Through 2021-22 (in thousands) 

Expense 
Category 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 
Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance 

Program: 
Cleaning, 
Maintenance, 
and Safety 

$173.5  $166.6 -4%  $180.8  $162.1 -10% $165.9 $133.8 -19% X $156.0  $159.5 +2%  

Program: 
Marketing, 
Streetscape 
Improvements,  
& Beautification  

 $36.1  $41.7 +16% X  $56.6 $20.4 -64% X  $33.9 $23.3 -31% X  $52.8 $10.0 -81% X 

Management & 
Operations  $193.1  $213.9 +11% X $177.0  $149.8 -15% X $134.2 $129.9 -3%  $202.9 $174.1 -14% X 

Contingency 
and Reserves   $15.0 $0 N/A  $15.0  $0 N/A  $15.0  $0 N/A  $15.0 $0 N/A 

Total $417.7 $422.2 X $429.4 $332.3  $349.0 $287.0  $426.7 $343.6  

Legend:  = Variance complies with agreement      X = Variance does not comply with agreement  
 
According to OAA, it was difficult to perform work associated with the marketing, streetscape 
improvements, and beautification program, such as assisting property and business owners and preparing 
community events, due to COVID-19 restrictions, but OAA plans to increase these efforts significantly in the 
upcoming year. Also, OAA actual expenses exceeded the total amount budgeted in fiscal year 2018-19.  

Of note, OEWD has a different interpretation of the requirement discussed related to Exhibit 6. That is, 
OWED interprets the requirement to mean the percentage each expense category represents of total 
expenses cannot exceed the percentage each expense category represents of the total budget. Using 
OEWD’s interpretation of the requirement, OAA met the requirement each year, as shown in Exhibit 7. 
However, we disagree with this interpretation of the requirement.  
 
  



 

SJOBERGEVASHENK  P a g e  | 21 

Exhibit 7. Budget Allocations Versus Actual Allocations for Expenses Funded by Property Tax 
Assessments, Fiscal Years 2018-19 Through 2021-22 

Expense 
Category 

2018-19 
Allocation 

2019-20 
Allocation 

2020-21 
Allocation 

2021-22 
Allocation 

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance 
Program: 
Cleaning, 
Maintenance, 
and Safety 

42%  39% -3%  42%  49% +7% 48%  47% -1% 37% 46% +9% 

Program: 
Marketing, 
Streetscape 
Improvements, 
and 
Beautification  

9%  10% +1% 13% 6% -7%  10%  8% -2% 12%  3% -9% 

Management 
and 
Operations  

46%  51% +5% 41%  45% +4% 38%  45% +7% 48% 51% +3% 

Contingency 
and Reserves  4% 0% -4% 3% 0% -3% 4% 0% -4% 4% 0% -4% 

Legend:   = Variance complies with agreement     X = Variance does not comply with agreement  

OAA Did Not Properly Report Surplus Property Assessment Revenues to OEWD 

According to state law,19 OAA must carry forward any surplus (or deficit) property assessment revenues 
into its next annual budget. OEWD also requires OAA to designate how the surplus will be used, such as 
funding cleaning and marketing activities identified in its management plan. According to OEWD, surplus 
revenues can be used to fund operating reserves and it is common for CBDs in San Francisco to maintain 
the equivalent of approximately six months’ special assessment revenue in reserve to cover the lag 
between when the City collects assessment payments from property owners and when it disburses the 
funds to CBDs. For OAA, six months of special assessment revenue during the audit period is about 
$168,000.  

Since the CBD’s establishment in 2010 through June 30, 2022, OAA had accumulated sufficient revenue 
surpluses to fund an operating reserve balance of nearly $217,000. According to its fiscal year 2022-23 
budget, OAA has allocated $30,000 of its surplus to its marketing and beautification program to make up for 
significant underspending on this program’s activities in previous fiscal years due to the COVID-19 
pandemic.  

CBDs are also required to report annually to OEWD their estimated surplus (or deficit) revenues to be 
carried over from the previous fiscal year to the next. However, OEWD’s response memo to OAA’s fiscal 
year 2018-19 annual report reflects that OAA provided unclear and confusing information to OEWD about 
its surplus revenues. Specifically, OEWD’s memo states that OAA reported $115,715 in property 
assessment revenue surplus carryforward for fiscal year 2018-19. However, this amount was the net 

 
19 Ibid., Section 36650(B)(5). 
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cumulative total of all revenue surpluses generated since the CBD was established, not just the fiscal year 
2018-19 surplus. Also, the information presented in OEWD’s response reflects that OAA designated the 
entire $115,715 across four expense categories, which was not the case because the surplus was 
maintained as operating reserves. OAA did not report estimated surplus amounts to OEWD in any other 
year covered by our audit. 

Further, the requirement to carry forward and designate surplus revenues and report the information to 
OEWD only applies to excess revenues associated with property assessments. However, OAA’s operating 
reserve balance does not distinguish between property assessment and non-property assessment (grant) 
revenue surpluses. For example, the $115,715 surplus reported to OEWD in fiscal year 2018-19 was a 
combination of property assessment and non-property assessment monies. This makes it difficult for OAA 
to clearly demonstrate to OEWD that property assessment revenue surpluses are reported and used as 
required by OAA’s management plan and state law. 

OAA Lacks Required Documentation, So Cannot Demonstrate Assessment Funds Were Expended 
Only on Eligible Items 

The management agreement, Section 3.7, requires OAA to use assessment funds only for eligible and 
budgeted expenditures. Further, it requires OAA to maintain accounting records on amounts expended, 
including invoices, payrolls, and other data required, in a readily accessible location and condition. As 
reflected in Exhibit 8, we selected for testing 29 expenditure transactions totaling $114,439, including:  

• $7,500 in design services provided by OAA employees receiving salaries.  
• A $1,500 cash withdrawal for food for a Lunar New Year event.  
• $15,700 in tree planting/landscaping services, including $700 for labor provided by an OAA 

employee receiving a salary. 
• $9,523 in salary and consulting payments to a former executive director. 

We asked OAA to provide all supporting documentation, such as contracts, invoices, payroll records, and 
receipts, for these transactions. However, OAA was able to provide only partial support for only 4 of the 29 
sample expenditures. According to the board, documentation exists to support the expenditures, but is not 
easy to locate because OAA does not have a reliable file management system. Instead, expenditure 
information is stored in various email accounts or in unorganized boxes.  
Ultimately, OAA could not demonstrate that its funding—generated from property tax assessments and city-
funded grants—was used appropriately or that it complied with applicable rules and requirements. OAA is 
addressing this issue. The new executive director reports that OAA is implementing an electronic document 
management system to maintain appropriate support for all expenditures. 
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Exhibit 8. Expenditure Testing Results 

Categories Selected for 
Testing Fiscal Year Category 

Total 
Total 

Selected for 
Testing 

Brief Description of 
Transaction Selected for 

Testing 
Support 

Provided? 

Salaries and Wages 2018-19 $126,299 $29,398 Executive and associate director 
salaries and bonuses 

Partial for 
2 items 
tested 

Telecom, Meeting Expenses 2018-19 $2,047 $951 Phone/wi-fi/meeting space cost X 
Legal Fees  2018-19 $27,404 $4,949 Adler & Colvin attorney fees X 
Liability Insurance 2018-19 $10,239 $2,570 Directors and officers Insurance X 
Website Upgrade 2018-19 $7,500 $7,500 Design services by OAA 

employees X 
       

Annual Report/Meeting 
Expenses 2019-20 $1,323 $460 Food for annual meeting X 
Sanitation/Graffiti Removal  2019-20 $130,208 $10,016 Cleanscapes services X 
Landscape & Maintenance  2019-20 $14,260 $8,260 Arborist Now services X 
Lunar New Year Grant 2019-20 $18,485 $1,500 Cash withdrawal for food for 

Lunar New Year event X 
       

Watering/maintenance  2020-21 $18,859 $2,180 Services and supplies costs X 
Professional Services 2020-21 $4,010 $2,010 Art show costs paid/reimbursed 

to OAA employees X 

Beautification 2020-21 $15,823 $15,700 
Tree planting/landscaping, 
including $700 for labor to an 
OAA employee 

X 

Telecom, Meeting Expenses 2020-21 $3,061 $610 Phone/wi-fi cost X 
       

Advertising 2021-22 $4,722 $1,299 Tents, food, and flyers for Lunar 
New Year event Partial 

Salaries and Wages  2021-22 $75,000 $17,513 Executive director salary X 
Consultants 2021-22 $15,577 $9,523 Salary and consulting pay for 

past executive director Partial 

         
  $474,817 $114,439   

Legend:  X = Support not provided. Partial = Partial support provided.  

Recommendations 

To improve compliance with management agreement provisions, the Office of Economic and Workforce 
Development should ensure that the Ocean Avenue Association Board of Directors: 

10. Ensure annual reports and midyear reports include all required components and require that 
documentation be maintained to support and justify all amounts represented in the reports. 

11. Ensure annual reports reflect information explaining whether actual expenses funded by property 
assessment revenue were within 10 percent of budgeted amounts and whether actual expenses 
exceeded the total amount budgeted. 
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12. Continue with efforts to implement a timekeeping process that tracks employee time by activities 
performed so that their efforts can be appropriately allocated among budget categories. 

13. Ensure annual reports include information regarding the ending cumulative operating reserve 
balance.  

14. Ensure annual reports explain the amount of revenue surplus (or deficit) for the prior fiscal year 
separated by property assessment and non-property assessment revenues. OAA should designate 
how the surplus revenues will be used, such as funding operating reserves or funding specific 
activities identified in its management plan and ensure such designations are reflected on the 
upcoming annual budget.  

15. Implement a system, such as an electronic documentation management system, to maintain 
supporting documentation for all expenditures. Documentation should include contracts, invoices, 
payroll records, and receipts.  
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Finding 3. OAA Implemented Many of the Strategic Plan’s 
Recommendations  
The board hired a consultant to develop a strategic plan with recommendations on alternative approaches 
to build OAA’s capacity and efficiency, particularly considering the possible renewal and expansion of the 
district. Grant funding from OEWD was used to pay for the effort. In January 2021, the consultant submitted 
its plan, including recommendations, to the board. The plan covers organizational, operational, and 
financial topics and its recommendations address board responsibilities, personnel development, district 
renewal efforts, financial policies, and annual work plans.  

We found the board had implemented many of the strategic plan’s key recommendations as of December 
2022, as reflected in Exhibit 9. Specifically, the board adopted a board member handbook, hired a new 
executive director and business and marketing manager, and established an OACBD renewal working 
group. However, although the board also adopted a financial policy that includes some of the components 
recommended in the strategic plan, the policy does not: 

• Require the monthly financial reports provided to the board to include balance sheet information or 
cashflow forecasts.  

• Include sufficient guidance on grant processes and responsibilities, which is critical for the policy to 
include, as discussed in depth in Finding 5.  

Last, the board is still implementing a few of the consultant’s recommendations, including a key 
recommendation to adopt an annual work plan each spring for the coming fiscal year that includes a 
defined set of programs with expectations, goals, and scheduled updates to track progress. According to 
the board chair, the first work plan, for fiscal year 2023-24, is under development and is slated to be 
presented to the board for approval in April 2023. 

Recommendations 

To fully implement the strategic plan’s recommendations, the Office of Economic and Workforce 
Development should ensure that the Ocean Avenue Association Board of Directors: 

16. Add the following to its newly developed financial policies: a) additional guidance for grant 
activities; b) a requirement that balance sheet information and cashflow forecasts be in the monthly 
reports the board receives, and include budget and actual operating statement variances, along 
with beginning and ending fund balances and reserves. 

17. Ensure financial policy requirements are consistent with existing practices. For example, the check 
signers required by the policy must be consistent with the authorized signers on OAA’s bank 
accounts.  
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Exhibit 9. Implementation Status of Strategic Plan Recommendations as of December 2022 

Synopsis of Strategic Plan 
Recommendation 

Status as of 
December 

2022 
Comment 

Formally accept strategic plan recommendations.  Implemented On 2/8/21, board adopted the strategic plan.  

Create a board handbook that clearly defines roles, 
responsibilities, and expectations and is included in 
each new board member's orientation.  

Implemented Board approved a handbook on 11/14/22 and board 
chair recently emailed it to two new members. Also, 
board hired a consultant to improve board members’ 
understanding of legal and financial responsibilities.  

Require board members to provide input and be 
engaged during board meetings. 

Ongoing Board handbook requires members to attend meetings 
and actively participate.  

Prohibit changes to board meeting agenda without 
approval of board chair and executive director.  

Implemented On 11/19/22, board approved an agenda-setting policy 
that prohibits changes without approval of board chair 
and executive director.  

Establish an executive director transition ad hoc 
committee and clearly define the executive 
director's role. 

Implemented In January 2021, board established the committee and 
disbanded it after new executive director was hired in 
September 2022. The position now has a written job 
description.  

Create a marketing/business development position 
with a job description that includes outcome 
expectations and a wage and benefit package.  

Implemented In June 2022, board hired a marketing/business 
development manager. The position now has a written 
job description and wage and benefit package.  

Establish a District Renewal Steering ad hoc 
committee and start the process of renewing the 
OACBD.  

Implemented In January 2021, board established a District Renewal 
Steering working group. Its work is ongoing but 
proceeding slowly pending the audit’s conclusion. 

Adopt a financial policy that requires budgets be 
approved before the start of the fiscal year; financial 
reports be provided at board meetings that include 
budget to actual data, balance sheet, and cashflow 
forecast; and processes and responsibilities be 
established over check/contract signing/bank 
account reconciliations/grants/credit 
cards/travel/expenses/purchasing/payroll. 

Partially 
Implemented 

On 6/20/22, board unanimously approved a financial 
policy that includes many of the recommended 
requirements but does not require the monthly financial 
reports to include balance sheet information or cashflow 
forecasts and does not include sufficient guidance on 
grant processes and responsibilities.  

Include funding for an office in the fiscal year 2021-
22 budget.  

Implemented $16,000 was included in fiscal year 2021-22 budget for 
office space, but the funding was not used. Board 
began negotiating a lease in 2023. 

Adopt an annual work plan each spring for the 
coming fiscal year. Plan should include a defined 
set of programs with expectations and goals and 
scheduled updates to track progress. 

In Progress According to board chair, a fiscal year 2023-24 work 
plan is being developed and will come before board for 
approval in April 2023.  

Analyze purpose, need, and goal of Street Life and 
Small Business standing committees.  

In Progress Effort is in progress with executive director.  

Refine framework to develop unity and focus on 
vision and purpose. 

In Progress Effort is in progress with executive director. 

Develop a consistent communication strategy that 
targets property owners, business owners, and 
community and that requires scheduled updates to 
track progress.  

In Progress Effort is in progress with executive director. 
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Finding 4. OAA Does Not Always Properly Administer Grant 
Agreements 

OAA does not always properly administer its grant agreements and does not follow adequate grant 
management policies and practices, which creates an environment in which key grant documents and 
deliverables cannot be located. Also, OAA paid some consultants without obtaining sufficient support for 
the services provided and cannot justify some expenses associated with staff efforts. Consequently, OAA’s 
grant activities are not adequately supported by documentation. 

OAA Cannot Provide Evidence of All Grant Deliverables and Paid for Consultant Services Without 
Sufficient Support 

During the audit period, OAA executed six grant agreements with the City, as shown in Exhibit 10.  

Exhibit 10. Grants Started and Revenue Received, July 1, 2018, Through June 30, 2022  

Grant Grantor Award 
Amount 

Revenue 
Received  

Award 
Unspent Status 

Public Life Study and Activation  OEWD $40,000 $26,500 $13,500  Complete 
Ocean Avenue Mural  SF Art Commission $15,400 $15,400 $0  Complete 
Lunar New Year OEWD $25,000 $25,000 $0  Complete 
Strategic Planning OEWD $260,250 $125,416 $134,834  Active 
Historic Preservation Fund Committee OEWD $5,600 $4,690 $910  Complete 
SF Shines  OEWD $3,000 $3,000 $0  Complete 

Total $349,250 $200,006 $149,244   

Of the six grants, we reviewed three—the Public Life Study and Activation grant, Lunar New Year grant, 
and Request for Proposal (RFP) 212 Strategic Planning grant—to determine whether OAA complied with 
the grant agreements and performed proper grant management practices. Our findings related to each of 
the three grants reviewed are described in the following pages.  

Public Life Study and Activation Grant—OAA Cannot Provide Evidence for Most Deliverables or 
Support for Consultant Expenses 

The $40,000 Public Life Study and Activation grant20 was intended to help fund OAA’s promotion and 
marketing efforts that encourage residents and visitors to visit Ocean Avenue. These efforts were to build 
on past successful events, including Second Sundays entertainment events featuring music, dance, art, 
and food and drink tastings. OAA was required to provide graphic design, business outreach, marketing, 
and program development to achieve the grant’s purpose. OAA received two grant reimbursements, in May 

 
20 The grant agreement began on July 1, 2018, and was initially set to expire on June 30, 2020, but was amended to expire on 
June 30, 2021. 
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and November 2019, totaling $26,500, leaving $13,500 of the grant budget unspent. OAA could not explain 
why it did not seek reimbursement for the remaining available grant amount.  

$30,000 of the grant budget was to be paid to OAA upon its submission of specific deliverables to OEWD, 
as shown in Exhibit 11.  

Exhibit 11. Public Life Study and Activation Grant Budget and Deliverables 
 

Budget Required Deliverable Deliverable 
Submitted to OEWD? 

Deliverable Met 
Requirements? 

Deliverable 1 $4,000 Activation Plan Unknown Unknown 
Deliverables 2-5 $1,000 Quarterly Reports Unknown Unknown 
Deliverable 6 $2,500 Livable City Subcontract Unknown Unknown 
Deliverable 7 $2,500 Draft Survey Templates Unknown Unknown 
Deliverable 8 $17,500 Draft Public Life Study Report Unknown Unknown 
Deliverable 9  $2,500 Final Public Life Study Report Yes Yes 

Total $30,000    

Note: Unknown = Unable to determine due to lack of documentation 

Of the remaining $10,000 of the $40,000 grant budget: 

• $8,000 was to fund the efforts of consultants working on the marketing and survey efforts. 
• $2,000 was to fund stipends or honoraria, which are typically one-time payments to event 

speakers, presenters, or entertainers.  

Because OAA did not adequately track its grant activities, it generally cannot link the grant reimbursements 
it received to the corresponding budget categories. Thus, OAA cannot explain what grant activities it 
performed to receive the grant reimbursements from OEWD.  

Also, although OEWD paid OAA $26,500 for work associated with this grant, OAA cannot provide evidence 
for 8 of the 9 deliverables that it was required to submit to OEWD or support submitted for expenses 
associated with consultant efforts, such as invoices, if any. According to the grant agreement, Appendix C, 
the grantee must keep and make available as requested supporting documentation for all expenditures for 
which reimbursement is requested. Such documentation would include receipts for purchases and 
expenses incurred, invoices, copies of checks, confirmation of deliverable approval, and payroll records. 
Without such documentation, OAA cannot demonstrate that the services provided or expenses incurred 
comply with OAA’s contract with the consultant or its grant agreement with the City.  

Lunar New Year Grant—OAA Cannot Provide Support for Expenses Associated With Staff Efforts 

The $25,000 Lunar New Year grant21 was intended to fund the 2020 Ocean Avenue Lunar New Year 
celebration. Besides holding the event, OAA was required to develop promotional materials, perform 
outreach, develop a passport booklet, decorate before the event, and post information on social media. 

 
21 The grant agreement began on January 1, 2020, and expired on December 31, 2021. 
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OAA held the event on February 1, 2020, and received a single reimbursement payment of $25,000 from 
OEWD on July 13, 2020, exhausting the grant award.  

$20,000 of the grant budget was to be paid to OAA upon its submission of specific deliverables to OEWD. 
We found that OAA held the event and provided OEWD with the required four deliverables, as shown in 
Exhibit 12.  

Exhibit 12. Lunar New Year Event Grant Budget and Deliverables 

 Budget Required Deliverable Deliverable Submitted 
to OEWD? 

Deliverable Met 
Requirements? 

Deliverable 1 $14,000 Report on the event Yes Yes 
Deliverable 2 $2,000 Receipts for expenses Yes Yes 
Deliverable 3 $2,000 PDF of passport book and raffle prizes Yes Yes 
Deliverable 4 $2,000 Copies of promotional materials and postings Yes Yes 

Total $20,000    

The remaining $5,000 of the $25,000 grant budget was to fund the efforts of two OAA employees working 
on the event. Although OEWD paid OAA the entire $5,000 for this purpose, OAA did not provide evidence 
of support submitted for the expenses associated with staff efforts, such as timesheets or payroll records 
showing the amount of staff time spent on the event and the corresponding cost incurred.  

Like the Lunar New Year grant discussed earlier, the agreement for this grant also requires the grantee to 
keep supporting documentation for all expenditures. 

RFP 212 Strategic Planning Grant—Much of the Grant Work Is Ongoing, but OAA Paid for 
Consultant Services Without Sufficient Support  

The $260,250 Strategic Planning grant (RFP 212)22 was intended to build OAA’s capacity and efficiency in 
managing the CBD as well as explore the renewal and expansion of the CBD.  

As reflected in Exhibit 13, OAA received $125,416 in grant reimbursements through June 30, 2022. Of this 
amount, $57,166 was expended on efforts related to expansion and renewal activities with the assessment 
engineer/management planning consultant, NBS Government Finance Group (NBS), performing initial 
analysis and outreach and engagement. OAA paid NBS for these services based on invoices that only 
reflected flat, unexplained amounts due. OAA should have required NBS to provide a description of the 
services performed, the names of those who performed the work and a billing rate for each, timesheets, 
and receipts for any expenses NBS incurred.  

According to OEWD, apart from the contract with the consultant, OAA is only required to provide OEWD 
with the additional required deliverables, such as the survey performed, survey results, community 
meetings and notices, and final management plan, for the entire grant to be completed and finalized. 

 
22 The grant agreement began on March 1, 2020, and was initially set to expire on June 30, 2022, but was amended to expire on 
June 30, 2023. 
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Although the grant is still in progress, we found that OAA had already provided OEWD with some survey 
and community meeting information.  

As shown in Exhibit 13, most of the grant’s scope of work remained outstanding as of June 30, 2022, which 
was the end of the audit period. Since then, the board has continued working on the activities for the grant 
and, in August 2022, completed one of the deliverables related to the financial policy. Further, in December 
2022, the board submitted to OEWD for its approval two additional deliverables related to organizational 
and operational policies and hired a board training consultant.  

Exhibit 13. RFP 212 Grant Budget and Reimbursements Through June 30, 2022 

Grant 
Document Description Grant 

Budget 

Amount 
Received 
Through 
6/30/22 

Required Deliverable Due 
Date 

Deliverable 
Submitted to 

OEWD Through 
6/30/22? 

Status as of 
December 

2022 

Original 
agreement 
and 
Revision 1 

Assessment 
Engineering; 
Management 
Plan 
Consultant; 
Deliverables 
1 – 9 

$104,000 $57,166 
 

• Signed contract for 
assessment engineering and 
management plan consulting 

• Outreach, written commitment 
from Area 2 property owners, 
proof of mailed survey/door-to-
door outreach/community 
meeting (with proof of meeting 
notice) in Area 3, final report if 
owners in Area 3 are 
supportive 

• Final assessment engineer’s 
report and management plan 

None Yes Work is 
ongoing 

Original 
agreement 
and 
Revision 1 

Deliverable 
10 

$45,000 $45,000 
 

Strategic plan report None Yes Completed 
January 2021 

Revision 1 Strategic 
Plan 
Consultant 

$16,00023 $0 Strategic plan implementation: 
invoice for strategic plan 
implementation consultant, if 
desired by board 

None N/A 
Professional 
service not 

desired by board 

N/A 

Revision 1 Deliverable 
11 

$10,000 $024 Strategic plan implementation: 
board adopted financial policy 
including budget, financial, and 
grant policies and procedures 

6/15/23 No, not yet due Completed 
August 2022 

Revision 1 Deliverable 
12 

$10,000 $0 Strategic plan implementation: 
board adopted operations policy 
including hiring support staff, 
funding office space, and 
rebidding cleaning program 

6/15/23 No, not yet due Submitted to 
OEWD for 
approval 

December 
2022 

Revision 1 Deliverable 
13 

$10,000 $0 Strategic plan implementation: 
board adopted organizational 
policy including board member 
handbook and board meeting 

6/15/23 No, not yet due Submitted to 
OEWD for 
approval 

 
23 In January 2023, $16,000 was transferred from the Strategic Plan Implementation Consultant budget line item to Deliverables 1-9 and 
Deliverable 23, which is part of the contract’s Revision 3, effective November 2022. 
24 $10,000 paid by OEWD in September 2022. 
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Grant 
Document Description Grant 

Budget 

Amount 
Received 
Through 
6/30/22 

Required Deliverable Due 
Date 

Deliverable 
Submitted to 

OEWD Through 
6/30/22? 

Status as of 
December 

2022 

requirements and workplan 
requirements 

December 
2022 

Revision 2 Deliverables 
14-17 

$25,000 $0 Board development consultant: 
list of interview panelists, 
professional consultant 
candidates, summary of hiring 
process, and executed 
professional consultant 
agreement 

7/30/22 
through 
10/31/22 

No, not yet due. Submitted to 
OEWD for 
approval 

December 
2022 

Revision 2 Deliverable 
18 

$23,250 $23,250 Juneteenth Activation Plan 5/20/22 Yes Completed 
June 2022 

Revision 2 Deliverable 
19 

$7,000 $025 Juneteenth Final Report 8/30/22 No, not yet due Completed 
October 2022 

Revision 2 Deliverable 
20 

$8,000 $026 Taste of OMI Activation Plan  6/30/22 Yes Completed 
June 2022 

Revision 2 Deliverable 
21 

$2,000 $027 Taste of OMI Final Report 8/30/22 No, not yet due Completed 
August 2022 

 Total $260,250 $125,416     

OAA Lacks Grant Management Policies and Procedures to Guide Activities 

As described in Finding 2, OAA lacks adequate policies and procedures, including grant management 
policies and procedures, which contributed to an environment in which key grant activities are not 
adequately supported and grant documents and deliverables cannot be located. According to board 
members, some pertinent grant-related information is decentralized and kept with various members or OAA 
employees, including some information maintained in boxes at the former executive director’s residence. 
Also, according to OAA, it is difficult to maintain some grant information, such as executed grant 
agreements and amendments, because the City does not readily provide the documents.  

Effective grant policies and procedures require strong records management practices that include 
identifying the grant manager assigned—and their roles and responsibilities—and that ensure the 
organization obtains and retains: 

• Pre-award documents, such as the RFP from the grantor, proposal/application submitted, and 
notification of grant award.  

• Agreement documents, such as a fully executed copy of the agreement, agreement amendments 
or change orders, subcontract agreements, agreements for major purchases, and file close-out 
documents. 

 
25 $7,000 paid by OEWD in October 2022. 
26 $8,000 paid by OEWD in June 2022. 
27 $2,000 paid by OEWD in August 2022. 
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• Financial documents, such as requests for payment submitted to the grantor and all required 
backup documentation, such as timesheets, payroll records, travel documents, and receipts. 

• Project documents, such as deliverables and status reports.  

• General documents, such as pertinent correspondence, emails, letters, budgets, schedules, and 
meeting minutes. 

Although OAA recently included some brief grant administration requirements in its newly developed 
financial policy, the policy only delves into approvals required for grants and contracts over a specific value. 
In the absence of sufficient grant policies and procedures, OAA staff lacks the guidance needed to 
effectively administer grant activities. If it does not meet key grant requirements and conditions, OAA risks 
having to return some or all the funds it received.  

Establishing and implementing controls over grant administration reduces the risk of noncompliance with 
grant conditions, minimizes the likelihood of unintentional errors and fraud, and may boost the confidence 
of OAA’s grantors, all of which reduces the risk of discontinued funding. OAA’s board chair and new 
executive director stated that they understand the importance of strong grant management practices and 
indicated that improvements will be implemented.  

Recommendations 

To improve its grant management and administration, the Office of Economic and Workforce Development 
should ensure that the Ocean Avenue Association Board of Directors: 

18. Only pay grant expenses after obtaining sufficient support for services provided and only seek 
grant reimbursements when able to justify expenses.  

19. Implement effective grant management policies and procedures, including those that will result in 
strong records management practices. The policies and procedures should require that pre-award 
documents, agreement documents, financial documents, project documents, and general 
documents are obtained and retained.  
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APPENDIX A: OEWD’S RESPONSE  



 

* Status Determination based on audit team’s review of the agency’s response and proposed corrective action. 
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Recommendations and Responses 
 
For each recommendation, the responsible agency should indicate in the column labeled Agency Response whether it concurs, does not 
concur, or partially concurs and provide a brief explanation. If it concurs with the recommendation, it should indicate the expected 
implementation date and implementation plan. If the responsible agency does not concur or partially concurs, it should provide an 
explanation and an alternate plan of action to address the identified issue.  
 

Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

The San Francisco Office of Economic & Workforce Development should ensure that the Ocean Avenue Association (OAA) Board of Directors: 

1. Set a “tone at the top” that promotes the importance 
of strong controls and demonstrates accountability to 
all organizational policies and procedures. 

 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked with OEWD to address this through board 
development training funded through an OEWD grant. OEWD 
will observe progress at OAA board meetings and through 
conversations with organizational staff.  
 
Implementation: 10/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

2. Formally establish a clear vision and common 
understanding of its members’ duties and 
responsibilities and how they differ from those of 
OAA’s executive director and staff. Board members’ 
duties and responsibilities should focus on OAA’s 
vision, mission, and strategic planning goals and 
policies, while the executive director’s duties and 
responsibilities should focus on day-to-day activities 
needed to fulfill the board’s vision. Ensure the board 
evaluates the executive director's performance in 
writing at least annually. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently worked to improve in this area 
with guidance from OEWD. OEWD was able to have other 
CBDs/BIDs provide template and sample documents to work 
off of. OAA’s board must approve these.  
 
Implementation date: 10/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 



 

* Status Determination based on audit team’s review of the agency’s response and proposed corrective action. 
 

SJOBERGEVASHENK  P a g e  | 35 

Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

3. Require that a comprehensive, easy-to-locate set of 
internal policies and procedures be created and 
implemented for all operational areas and activities. 
The guidance should establish and communicate 
standard expectations focused on efficiency, 
effectiveness, consistency, strong controls, and 
compliance. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area with 
guidance from OEWD. OEWD was able to have other 
CBDs/BIDs provide template and sample documents to work 
off of. Many of these have been approved, already, by OAA’s 
board in the time period following the audit’s review period. 
OAA staff should review and enhance w/ suggestions to the 
board based off this audit. 
 
Implementation date: 9/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

4. Ensure the policies and procedures that are created 
have the agreement and support of OAA’s board, 
management, and staff, and that monitoring processes 
are implemented to ensure compliance. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area with 
guidance from OEWD. OAA is undergoing board development 
training which will aid in this area. OEWD will attend board 
meetings and speak with staff and the trainer to gauge 
improvement. 
 
Implementation date: 12/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

5. Work with the executive director to establish 
measurable goals and metrics for the Cleaning, 
Maintenance, and Safety program and Marketing, 
Streetscape, and Beautification program. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area in the 
period following this audit’s review. This has already been 
improved on in Q3 of FY 2022-2023. OEWD will continue to 
monitor and work with staff to see what areas could be further 
improved on. 
 
Implementation date: 11/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 
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Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

6. Require the executive director to summarize in writing 
and distribute to the board all applicable provisions of 
the California Corporations Code, Section 5233, and 
the California Government Code, Section 54950 et seq. 
Board members should then familiarize themselves 
with these provisions. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has hired a new executive director since this audit. The 
new OAA ED has extensive experience running similar 
organizations. OAA ED will do this in an email and CC OEWD 
staff for proof of summary and mailing.  
 
Implementation date: 7/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

7. Develop, document, and implement policies and 
procedures related to conflicts of interest for the board 
and OAA staff. The guidance should describe in detail 
situations that could be a conflict of interest, OAA’s 
monitoring processes for conflicts of interest, and 
OAA’s annual reporting of interests to ensure 
compliance with all applicable provisions of the 
California Corporations Code, Section 5233, and the 
California Government Code, Section 54950 et seq. The 
conflict-of-interest guidance should be incorporated in 
the board’s Handbook and OAA’s personnel policies 
and procedures, as applicable. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area with 
guidance from OEWD. OEWD was able to have other 
CBDs/BIDs provide template and sample documents to work 
off of. Additionally, they are undergoing board development 
training to help address this.  
 
OAA ED must ensure this policy is in all areas mentioned. 
OEWD will review that this is accomplished by accessing the 
entity’s website and public documents.  
 
Implementation date: 10/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 
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Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

8. Research and implement best practices of city 
committees of similar size and/or scope and what state 
law requires to help ensure the board fully complies 
with the Ralph M. Brown Act. This research could 
include listening to a recorded meeting of the San 
Francisco Public Utilities Commission Revenue Bond 
Oversight Committee (audio archive at granicus.com) 
to learn how that body conducts its meetings, reading 
the agenda of the same meeting, and becoming 
familiar with the requirements of California 
Government Code sections 54952-54953.3. The board 
should then agree upon the best practices and 
implement them in its procedures. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA is currently undergoing board development training to 
undertake this. The best organization the OAA could learn from 
would be fellow CBDs. OAA ED should accomplish this by 
attending a Union Square Alliance, East Cut CBD, or Yerba 
Buena CBD board meeting and preparing a list of practices for 
the board to implement.  
 
Implementation date: 7/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

9. Consider establishing term limits for its members, 
including whether to allow former members to rejoin 
the board after a sabbatical. Term limits may cause 
new perspectives to be brought to the board, enhance 
the board’s creativity and dynamism, and make it more 
aware of and able to follow best practices in 
developing solutions to any challenges that may arise. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA board must decide whether or not to include term limits 
in their bylaws. OEWD does not control the OAA Board or have 
the ability to unilaterally effect this change. OEWD will discuss 
this change with Board Chair and ED to have them create a 
policy and have it put to a vote of their board.  
 
Implementation Date: 12/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

http://sanfrancisco.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=97
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Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

10. Ensure annual reports and midyear reports include all 
required components and require that documentation 
be maintained to support and justify all amounts 
represented in the reports. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OEWD sends all CBDs, including OAA, a memo that outlines 
what is needed in each annual report. In the report period 
following the reporting timeline of this audit, the OAA made 
substantial improvements in their annual report. OEWD will 
continue to review annual and midyear reports of the 
organization and provide feedback, as needed.  
 
Implementation date: 8/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

11. Ensure annual reports reflect information explaining 
whether actual expenses funded by property 
assessment revenue were within 10 percent of 
budgeted amounts and whether actual expenses 
exceeded the total amount budgeted. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OEWD sends all CBDs, including OAA, a memo that outlines 
what is needed in each annual report. In the report period 
following the reporting timeline of this audit, the OAA made 
substantial improvements in their annual report. OEWD will 
continue to review annual and midyear reports of the 
organization and provide feedback, as needed. This 
requirement has been reiterated to the Board.  
 
Implementation date: 7/1/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

12. Continue with efforts to implement a timekeeping 
process that tracks employee time by activities 
performed so that their efforts can be appropriately 
allocated among budget categories. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA staff and board must come up with a system to 
accomplish this. OEWD will confer with ED on how and when 
this is accomplished. 
 
Implementation date: 7/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 
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Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

13. Ensure annual reports include information regarding 
the ending cumulative operating reserve balance. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OEWD sends all CBDs, including OAA, a memo that outlines 
what is needed in each annual report. In the report period 
following the reporting timeline of this audit, the OAA made 
substantial improvements in their annual report. OEWD will 
continue to review annual and midyear reports of the 
organization and provide feedback, as needed.  
 
Implementation date: 8/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

14. Ensure annual reports explain the amount of revenue 
surplus (or deficit) for the prior fiscal year separated by 
property assessment and non-property assessment 
revenues. OAA should designate how the surplus 
revenues will be used, such as funding operating 
reserves or funding specific activities identified in its 
management plan and ensure such designations are 
reflected on the upcoming annual budget. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OEWD sends all CBDs, including OAA, a memo that outlines 
what is needed in each annual report. In the report period 
following the reporting timeline of this audit, the OAA made 
substantial improvements in their annual report. OEWD will 
continue to review annual and midyear reports of the 
organization and provide feedback, as needed.  
 
Implementation date: 8/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

15. Implement a system, such as an electronic 
documentation management system, to maintain 
supporting documentation for all expenditures. 
Documentation should include contracts, invoices, 
payroll records, and receipts. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA staff and board must come up with a system to 
accomplish this. OEWD will confer with ED on how and when 
this is accomplished. 
 
Implementation date 7/31/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 
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Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

16. Add the following to its newly developed financial 
policies: a) additional guidance for grant activities; b) a 
requirement that balance sheet information and 
cashflow forecasts be in the monthly reports the board 
receives, and include budget and actual operating 
statement variances, along with beginning and ending 
fund balances and reserves. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area with 
guidance from OEWD. OEWD was able to have other 
CBDs/BIDs provide template and sample documents to work 
off of. Many of these have been approved, already, by OAA’s 
board in the time period following the audit’s review period. 
OAA staff should review and enhance w/ suggestions to the 
board based off this audit. With board development training 
and the addition of experienced staff, OEWD expects OAA to 
be able to accomplish this. OEWD will confer with ED on follow 
through. 
 
Implementation date: 9/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

17. Ensure financial policy requirements are consistent with 
existing practices. For example, the check signers 
required by the policy must be consistent with the 
authorized signers on OAA’s bank accounts. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA has worked consistently to improve in this area with 
guidance from OEWD. OEWD was able to have other 
CBDs/BIDs provide template and sample documents to work 
off of. Many of these have been approved, already, by OAA’s 
board in the time period following the audit’s review period. 
OAA staff should review and enhance w/ suggestions to the 
board based off this audit. With board development training 
and the addition of experienced staff, OEWD expects OAA to 
be able to accomplish this. OEWD will confer with ED on follow 
through.  
 
Implementation date: 9/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 



 

* Status Determination based on audit team’s review of the agency’s response and proposed corrective action. 
 

SJOBERGEVASHENK  P a g e  | 41 

Recommendation Agency Response 
CSA Use Only  

Status Determination* 

18. Only pay grant expenses after obtaining sufficient 
support for services provided and only seek grant 
reimbursements when able to justify expenses. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OEWD reviews all submissions by OAA before approving any 
deliverables and invoices. OAA, as part of its record keeping, 
must do a better job of keeping copies of documentation for 
invoices and deliverables for their records. Additionally, OAA 
(w/ the additional of time keeping software) must do a better 
job of tracking hours spent.  
 
Implementation date: 11/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 

19. Implement effective grant management policies and 
procedures, including those that will result in strong 
records management practices. The policies and 
procedures should require that pre-award documents, 
agreement documents, financial documents, project 
documents, and general documents are obtained and 
retained. 

☒ Concur ☐ Do Not Concur ☐ Partially Concur 
 
OAA is now working with a board development trainer and 
experienced staff. These policies and procedures should be 
developed between the two and approved by the OAA board. 
OEWD will review and gauge progress.  
 
Implementation date: 11/30/2023 

☒ Open 
☐ Closed 
☐ Contested 
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Jackie Hazelwood

CBD/BID Program Director

February 1, 2024

Community Benefit District

Annual Reports

• Ocean Avenue Association 

• SOMA West 

• Fisherman’s Wharf 

• Lower Polk

• Union Square Alliance 

• TID/MED 

• Downtown Partnership
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Community Benefit Districts (CBDs) / Business Improvement 
Districts (BIDs) are governed by:

• State law
‒ “1994 Act”

• Local law 
– “Article 15”

Legislative Overv iew

2Page



• OEWD ensures that all CBDs/BIDs are meeting their 

management plans.

• OEWD staff conducts an annual review of the Annual 

Reports and CPA Financial Reviews.

• OEWD provides the Board of Supervisors with a summary 

memo.

Review Process

3
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Basic Information

CBD Name Type
Management Plan 

Assessment 
Budget

FY21-22 
Assessment Roll 

Submission

Year(s) Formed 
and Renewed Expires

Ocean Avenue Property-based $239,578.00 $339,580.72 2010 2025

SOMA West Property-based $3,741,943.94 3,996,910.40 2019 2034

Fisherman’s Wharf Property-based $1,218,907.64 $1,204,734.20 2005, 2020 2035

Lower Polk Property-based $799,093.54 $926,992.00 2014 2029

Union Square Alliance Property-based 6,036,111.00 $6,328,080.80 1999, 2009, 2019 2029

Tourism Improvement District Business-based $27,000,000.00 - 2008 2023*

Moscone Expansion District Business-based $19,332,000.00 - 2013 2045

Downtown Partnership Property-based $3,873,491.14 $4,007,035.84 2019 2034
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OEWD’s staff reviewed the following budget related benchmarks for each CBD/BID:

• Benchmark 1 – Whether the variance between the budget amounts for each 

service category was within 10 percentage points from the management plan.

• Benchmark 2 – Whether the CBD met its non-assessment revenue source 

requirement.

• Benchmark 3 - Whether the variance between the budget amounts for each 

service category was within 10 percentage points from the fiscal actuals.  

• Benchmark 4 - Whether CBD is indicating the amount of funds carried over from 

the current fiscal year and designating projects to be spent in the upcoming fiscal 

year. 

Benchmarks
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Ocean Avenue - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question Was This Met in 
FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X < 
10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 1.00% Yes

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% No

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from current fiscal year to the next fiscal 
and were projects designated to be spent on? No
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Ocean Avenue – Findings and Recommendations 

(Part 1 of 2) 

Missed Benchmarks (3 & 4)

• OAA budget amount and actual expenses for fiscal year were not within 10 percentage 

points as they overspent in their Cleaning, Maintenance, and Public Safety category by 

0.53%. 

• Analysis & Recommendation: OEWD believes this could have been prevented 

had the CBD followed through on planned spending in the Marketing, Streetscape 

Improvements, and Beautification service area and through the solicitation of 

committee/board feedback before making a proposal. 

• For the second year in a row, OAA did not provide carryforward amount and 

spenddown plan in their annual report; provided the information in supplemental 

documentation

• Recommendation: Utilize the OEWD provided annual reporting template to 

ensure they include all required reporting fields
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Ocean Avenue – Findings and Recommendations 

(Part 2 of 2) 

• Strategic Plan & Progress: Throughout this reporting period, OEWD extensively tracked the 

success of this organization as it aimed to follow organization, operational, and financial

recommendations included in the OEWD-funded Ocean Avenue Strategic Plan (the Plan) 

which aimed to fix systemic and structural issues within the organization

• Analysis & Recommendation: Due to slow progress on many recommendations, OEWD 

did plan to utilize budget to have the Office of Controller audit the organization in FY 

22-23 (an action also requested by Supervisor Melgar)

• Leadership Changes: New Executive Director (Mr. Pierre Smit) was hired in spring 2021 – Mr. 

Smit resigned shortly after the end of this reporting period 

• Brown Act Compliance: OEWD received multiple complaints regarding Brown Act violations 

during this reporting period and provided complainants with remedies set forth in the Brown 

Act itself.

• Service Delivery: OEWD received multiple complaints regarding core service delivery of the 

CBD toward the end of the fiscal year which it passed on to the organization.

*Though not in this reporting period, OEWD acknowledges significant strides 

through and beyond FY 22-23*
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SOMA West - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question
Was This Met in 

FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X < 10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 5.22% No

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% Yes

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from current fiscal year to the next fiscal and 
were projects designated to be spent on? No
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SoMa West– Findings and Recommendations 

(Part 1 of 2) 

Missed Benchmarks (2 & 4)

• 5.22% of SOMA West actuals did not come from sources other than assessment 

revenue as required. This missed requirement is likely due to a combination of it 

being the first true year of operations for the CBD and general impacts to donor 

solicitations caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• Recommendation: The CBD can meet this goal through a combination of 

grants, donations, as well as in-kind services provided to it.

• SOMA West did not provide a carryforward amount and spenddown plan in their 

annual report as is required by state law. *The CBD did provide enough financial 

information through financial statements for OEWD to have an understanding of 

these figures*

• Recommendation: Inclusion of this chart field in future annual reports.
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SoMa West– Findings and Recommendations 

(Part 2 of 2) 
• Service Delivery: SoMa West CBD performed extraordinary implementation of services 

in its first full fiscal year of operations – completed 1,549 (27.12%) of 311 service 

requests within their geographic boundaries.

• OEWD believes the CBD would be able to handle a greater amount of these 

requests with non-assessment dollars (either via city grant dollars or donations) 

to hire additional staff to fulfill the scale of 311 requests that come in.

• Strong Community Partner: During the pandemic, the CBD allowed use of its facilities 

to store PPE for use by all other CBDs throughout the City allowing OEWD to better 

coordinate logistics for PPE deliveries to all of our geographic-based CBDs.

• Further, one of the initial partners in the 311 Connected Worker pilot program 

(also known as integrated 311).

• Surveillance Technology: SoMa West CBD did not employ surveillance technology in 

this reporting period.

• Compliance: There were no reported violations to OEWD of the Brown Act or CA Public 

Records Act.

• Overall, the CBD is well-positioned to carry on its mission.
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Fisherman’s Wharf - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question Was This Met in FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X 
< 10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 9.08% Yes

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% Yes

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from on fiscal year to the next fiscal 
and were projects designated to be spent on? Yes
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Fisherman’s Wharf – Findings and 

Recommendations

• Transition Year: FY 21-22 marks the first year that the CBD operated solely as the 

Landside portion of the district (due to the failure of the Portside’s renewal in the 

previous fiscal year)

• Optimizing Digital Presence: In late FY 20-21, FWCBD launched a joint website 

partnership with the Fisherman’s Wharf Merchants Association. The first full fiscal 

year saw a 143% increase in the number of users and a 247% increase in the 

number of page views compared to the previous fiscal. The combined website 

ensures the maximum search engine optimization for the Fisherman’s Wharf brand.

• Surveillance Technology: The CBD does employ surveillance technology and did 

comply with OEWD’s memo regarding this technology.

• Compliance: There were no reported violations to OEWD of the Brown Act or CA 

Public Records Act.

• Overall, the CBD is well-positioned to carry on its mission.
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Lower Polk - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question
Was This Met in 

FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X < 
10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 5.55% Yes

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% Yes

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from current fiscal year to the next fiscal 
and were projects designated to be spent on? Yes
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Lower Polk CBD – Findings and 

Recommendations

• Service Delivery: During this review period, the CBD continued their COVID-19 

response work of the prior years, expanding their Ambassador Clean Team –

increasing district cleaning, trained staff on PPE use, and provided business support 

services to merchants and renters.

• Surveillance Technology: The CBD does employ surveillance technology and did 

comply with OEWD’s memo regarding this technology.

• Board Attendance Challenges: The CBD held three board meetings (up from two in 

the prior year); the CBD has made efforts to improve attendance – prioritizing fixed 

meetings throughout the fiscal year and hiring of a consultant to improve 

engagement

• Recommendation: Continue to prioritize board engagement efforts (both 

through consultant and internally via Executive Director communications).

• Administrative Challenges: Continued struggles to submit their annual report in a 

timely manner.

• Recommendation: Prioritize reporting deadlines with staff and financial 

partners.
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Union Square - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question Was This Met in FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X < 
10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 8.00% Yes

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% Yes

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from on fiscal year to the next fiscal 
and were projects designated to be spent on? Yes
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Union Square Alliance – Findings and 

Recommendations
• Activations & Marketing of District: Continued to identify/prioritize needs and solutions to bring 

both local and international visitors to the area to support local businesses. 

• Installed an array of pink and purple lanterns at Maiden Lane, Union Square Park, and 

Hallidie Plaza & activated Union Square Park with a regular music series.

• Spurred by holiday success, light displays were made permanent throughout the year

• Activated Hallidie Plaza with a series of colorful improvements, including holiday décor, 

lanterns, wayfinding banners, a mural, café tables and seating, and landscaping 

maintenance.

• Completed a district rebrand and developed a social media strategy as well as ad campaigns 

throughout the fiscal year.

• Smooth Leadership Transition: In this year, Karin Flood – longtime executive director – left the 

position and was replaced by former Head of the Office of Cannabis and Assistant District 

Attorney, Marisa Rodriguez early in FY 21-22. 

• Surveillance Technology: The CBD does employ surveillance technology and did comply with 

OEWD’s memo regarding this technology.

• Compliance: There were no reported violations to OEWD of the Brown Act or CA Public Records 

Act.

• Overall, the CBD is well-positioned to carry on its mission.
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Tourism Improvement Distr ict (TID) & Moscone 

Expansion Distr ict (MED) - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question
TID: Was This Met in 

FY2022?

MED: Was This Met 

in FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year 
budget is X < 10%? Yes Yes

Benchmark 2 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 
10% Yes Yes

Benchmark 3 Were carryforward funds indicated from current fiscal year to the 
next fiscal and were projects designated to be spent on? Yes Yes
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TID/MED – Findings and Recommendations

• Pandemic Impact on Revenue: Both districts’ special assessment revenues were 

significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The formula for both districts is based on 

a percentage of revenue generated from hotel room purchases in the City and County of 

San Francisco.

• This impact can be seen with both districts’ respective actuals for the reporting 

period.

• Successful TID Renewal/Expansion: Though just outside of this reporting period, the TID 

completed its renewal and expansion process in Fall 2022. With this, the District is now set 

to expire in December 2038.

• Compliance: There were no reported violations to OEWD of the Brown Act or CA Public 

Records Act.

• The Districts continue to succeed at their primary purpose of attracting tourism and 

conventions to San Francisco and renovating the Moscone Convention Center.
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Downtown Partnership - Benchmarks

Benchmark Question Was This Met in FY2022?

Benchmark 1 Variance between management plan budget and fiscal year budget is X < 
10%? Yes

Benchmark 2 Non-assessment revenue is X ≥ 3.20% Yes

Benchmark 3 Variance between fiscal year budget and fiscal year actuals is X < 10% Yes

Benchmark 4 Were carryforward funds indicated from current fiscal year to the next 
fiscal and were projects designated to be spent on? Yes
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Downtown SF Partnership – Findings and 

Recommendations
• First Annual Report Submission: The Downtown SF Partnership was formed in 2019 and its 

first full year of operation was FY 20-21. In accordance with state statute, this is the 

organization’s first annual report submitted to the City and County of San Francisco.

• Service Delivery: Although new, the Downtown SF Partnership quickly emerged as a thought 

and best practice leader. 

• In FY 21-22, they were able to respond and complete a total of 300 unique 311 

tickets, or 47.24% of those generated within their service area (recorded through 

their participation in the Connected Worker app) 

• The CBD prioritized attracting folks into the downtown core and back to the office with 

new public space activations (inaugural Let’s Glow SF light show) and working to 

enhance and support timeless traditions (such as Bastille Day)

• Surveillance Technology: The Downtown Partnership did not employ surveillance technology 

in this reporting period.

• Compliance: There were no reported violations to OEWD of the Brown Act or CA Public 

Records Act.

• Overall, the CBD is well-positioned to carry on its mission.
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ANNUAL REPORT 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022
OCEAN AVENUE ASSOCIATION

The Ocean Avenue Community Benefit District 

consists of a 12-block retail business corridor in 

the southern part of San Francisco.

It is at the center of a quiet residential area easily 

accessible by BART, MUNI, 280 Freeway, 

Junipero Serra or 19th Avenue, and is a place of 

unity for businesses serving people of all 

backgrounds.
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FY 2021-2022 was a time of great progress for OAA, for example:

★ We reviewed and updated our contracts.

★ We worked with Cleanscapes to make sure Ocean Avenue was 

clean and graffiti free.

★ We worked with DPW to add five trash cans at critical locations.

★ Our “Respect New 20 MPH on Ocean Avenue” prints were 

posted on windows of businesses, and our posters appeared on 

social media with politicians and law enforcement officers.

★ We developed and participated in a series of events to bring 

neighbors to Ocean Avenue.

Intro



oewd.org/

Cleaning-Graffiti Data:

★ Trash Collected: 25,000 lbs.

★ Graffiti cleaned-up: 1,300 occurrences

★ Blocks power washed: 200

★ #311 Calls (big items removal): 340

★ Palm Trees Cleaned: 50

★ Other Trees Thinning: +/- 40

★ Feces cleaning: 600

By The Numbers



oewd.org/

Marketing:

★ OAA developed a database of all businesses, and produced the 

Ocean Avenue Business Directory that can be found at multiple 

locations on Ocean Avenue,

★ OAA has increased its email list by 38% during the FY 21/22. Emails 

with Community Updates are sent out 2 to 3 times monthly.

★ OAA is active on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram.

★ Posting happened 2 to 3 times weekly. 

★ In FY 21/22, we showed a 300% increase in Instagram followers 

telling us that a young audience is very involved on Ocean Avenue.

★ We saw an average increase of 40% in Email / Facebook / Twitter / 

Instagram for FY 21/22.

Spreading The 

Word



oewd.org/

San Francisco adopted a speed reduction of 5 MPH along 

Ocean Avenue, and:

★ OAA promptly started a public campaign to promote the new 20 

MPH speed limit by passing window signs to businesses, stickers 

to kids, and posing at events with posters promoting the new 

speed limit of 20 MPH.

★ All intersections on the Ocean Avenue business corridor have a 

traffic light signal except at Granada.

★ OAA collected about 400 signatures asking our district supervisor 

to install a STOP sign on Ocean at Granada Avenue.

Street Safety



oewd.org/

Examples:

★ Thanks to a grant from Paint the Void, a free temporary artwork 

was painted by artist Andrea Perreira on the front of the NEMS 

building (1441 Ocean) in January 2022.

★ Bows were installed on all palm trees of the district at the end 

of November 2021 giving a cheerful Holiday welcome to the 

visitors.

★ OAA worked with the property owner SFMTA to regularly steam 

clean the plaza. OAA also worked with their team to keep up 

the landscape around the plaza.

Beautification



oewd.org/

Helping Merchants:

★ OAA has diligently encouraged businesses to apply for the Vandalism Relief 

Grant. An instruction pamphlet was designed in English/Chinese to help 

affected businesses.

★ OAA is working with the Office of Small Business to resolve ADA issues with 

retail stores who need to update their entrances to qualify for grants.

★ We worked with merchants that qualified for the OEWD Rent Relief Pilot 

Program.

★ In March 2022, our vacancy report showed a 25% vacancy. By June, this 

report showed vacancies had fallen to about 12%.

Business Assistance
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Examples:

★ “National Night Out”: a community-building that promotes police-

community partnerships.

★ “Ocean After Hour”: a business owners & neighbors gathering 

(Jul, Aug & Sept 21); past Executive Director Dan Weaver was 

presented with a Mayor’s Proclamation.

★ “Open The Gate”: Ingleside Library Gateway Grand Opening in 

September 2021.

★ “MuSix September”: featured musicians on Ocean Avenue 

between Miramar and Faxon. Sponsors included Whole Foods 

Market (4 Gift Certificates), Ocean Paws/The Plant Lady.

★ “Gotta Love Ocean Avenue” Art Show: organized by community 

member Kate Favetti, OAA sponsored this well attended event 

in October 2021.

Events and 

Activations
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★ Community Cleanup of Unity Plaza on National Public Lands Day –

with community volunteers, Whole Foods Market employees, OAA 

Board Directors & staff (Sept 2021). 25 bags of weeds and trash 

were collected.

★ 20 dedicated students from Lick-Wilmerding volunteered to clean-up

the walkway known as 699 Ocean Avenue and collected 40 bags of 

trash and weeds.

★ A group of 15 students from Lick-Wilmerding volunteered to make 

noise on Ocean & Granada Avenues to make drivers aware of the 

new 20 MPH speed limit.

★ OAA sponsored the SF Turkey Drive who collects turkeys to feed 

the poor and homeless coming to St. Anthony’s Dining Room to get 

fed.

Events and 

Activations
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From the FY 20/21 Strategic Plan, the following 

accomplishments were made:

★ Board Member Handbook

★ Personnel Policies and Procedures

★ Financial Policies

Looking Forward
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2022 and Beyond:

★ The process for the renewal of OAA started with 

the signing of the contract with the consulting firm 

NBS in July 2021. 

★ The Renewal & Expansion working group met with 

new stakeholders including a Lakeside Village 

group, Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community 

Development, Municipal Transportation Authority, 

Parks & Rec, and BART.

Looking Forward



oewd.org/

Budget



OPERATIONS
July 1st, 2021 - June 30th, 2022



SERVICES

Introduction

SOMA West Community Benefit District Mid-Year Report 2022  

SOMA West CBD Serv ices Overview

SOMA West Community Benefit provides the following service with an in-house team of full-time  

employees with full benefits, as well as contractors on an as-needed basis.

Cleaning &Maintenance  

SOMA West Night Crew  

Outreach

Public Realm and Streetscape  

Improvements

Neighborhood Identity andMarketing  

Advocacy
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Clean and Safe Programs
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CLEANING & MAINTENANCE OPERARATIONS

SOMA West CBD ambassadors' hard work is driven by real-time data collected through multiple channels, including 311 and daily

walk-through of our district’s ten cleaning zones. As a district of our size, this data-driven approach allows us to track tasks and  

provide services to the far reaches of our district more efficiently. Cleaning and maintenance services include sidewalk and gutter  

sweeping, sticker and handbill removal, pressure washing, graffiti removal, trash and bulk removal, greening and maintenance, and  

more.
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Clean and Safe Programs

Micro neighborhood approach (10

zones)  21 ambassadors

6 trucks

1 Street Vacuum

1 Dump Truck
1 Pressure Washer  
Landscaper
contractor

Jia (location-based field management software for ambassadors)

Performance incentives and Hazardpay
Employee support and professional development 
opportunities  Employee wellness program including once a
month group meetings,  gatherings, and trainings

CLEANING & MAINTENANCE OPERARATIONS



Beginning in March 2021, we have operated a small but mighty Night Crew  

Ambassador Program. The Night Crew program's key priority is maintaining a  

welcoming and vibrant neighborhood by directly interacting with neighborhood  

stakeholders and providing our cleaning and maintenance services in the

evening.  Since its launch, the Night Crew has been successful and popular, 

especially with  businesses that have worked with the night shift to help their 

customers and  employees feel safer with their presence. Our 'eyes on the 

street' approach have  helped deter crime, including arson and vehicular break-

ins.

While our small team of night ambassadors does a lot, we have been advocating

to  expand this group to improve the overall feeling of safety in the neighborhood.

Growing this team is our organization's and neighbors' priority for 2023 and
beyond.

SOMA West Community Benefit 
District Mid-Year Report 2022

Clean and Safe Programs
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NIGHT TEAM AMBASSADOR PROGRAM



We are incredibly proud of our outreach efforts in the district, primarily  

through the leadership of Outreach Director Hanif Hakeem. Hanif walks  

and bikes the streets of SOMA West each day - connecting people to  

services, handing out food, water, sanitary items, and warm accessories,  

including ponchos on those rainy days we have been experiencing- all  

while building relationships and trust with the local community of  

individuals experiencing homelessness. Quantifying our team's work  

under his leadership is challenging, but his impact is felt throughout the  

neighborhood.

We continue to partner with City Departments to help address these  

issues, including Healthy Streets Operation Center (HSOC unit), the S.F.  

HOT team, the Encampment Resolution Team, Health-Right 360, Food  

Runners S.F. AIDS foundation, DPW, and SFPD.

As a bright spot this year, we receive hundreds of donations of ponchos,  

new socks, gloves, beanies, snacks, and sanitary items to support our  

unhoused neighbors.

SOMA West Community Benefit 
District Mid-Year Report 2022

Clean and Safe Programs
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OUTREACH



825,173
POUNDS OF GARBAGEREMOVED*

SOMA West Community Benefit 
District Mid-Year Report 2022

Maintenance Data
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*Not including bulk items

CLEANING & 
MAINTENANCE
STATS



COVERAGE MAP
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Maintenance Data
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OPERATIONS DATA BY THE NUMBERS

SOMA West Community Benefit 
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Maintenance Data
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825,173

LBS OF GARBAGE  

REMOVED

328,935

CLEANING TASKS

101,447

SWEEPING TASKS

64,318

HAZARDOUS  

TASKS

82,443

TRASH BAGS  

COLLECTED

16,985

LANDSCAPING  

TASKS

18,198

GRAFFITI

REMOVAL TASKS

11,150

BULK ITEM TASKS

3,386

MISCELLENEOUS  

TASKS



OPERATIONS TASK BREAKDOWN
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Maintenance Data
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STREETSCAPES & PUBLIC REALM

5

Joshua Hubert, Glimmer, Clementina & 8th Partnered with Bay Area lighting artist Josh  

Hubert to install an LED artwork between two buildings at 8th and Clementina. Glimmer  

features are programmable with infinite patterns and daytime optical effects. Glimmer is not  

just a cutting-edge sculpture but the first in multiple light-art sculptures to be brought to the  

SOMA West neighborhood, making it an attractive destination to benefit the local  

community and businesses alike. The goal of Glimmer is to bring art to the area and create a  

beautiful illumination to improve the safety of our community.

Hanging Baskets

We piloted a hanging flower basket  

program that we plan on continuing and  

expanding. We selected the 11th Street  

nightlife corridor and Eagle Plaza and the  

feedback was overwhelmingly positive.

The bright bursts of color were welcomed  

by neighbors in all of SOMA's diverse  

communities.

SOMA West Community Benefit 
District Mid-Year Report 2022

Streetscapes & Public Realm
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STREETSCAPES & PUBLIC REALM
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Streetscapes & Public Realm
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Planters We rolled out and maintain over 150 planters throughout the district,

bringing more green into our neighborhood. This is an ongoing program that  

will continue and expand.



STREETSCAPES & PUBLIC REALM

Ringold Alley Maintenance

Ringold Alley Maintenance was completed in Spring of 2022 in partnership 

with  the SF Leather and LGBTQ Cultural District. Ringold Alley is a historic 

location for  the Leather community in SOMA. Leather pride colored paving,

bronze boot prints,  stone plinths, and more were all implemented in 2012 

and have been in serious  need of maintenance. SOMA West CBD funded 

the maintenance work and the  celebration for the completion of the work.

Velia de Iulis Mural, Folsom and 7th Street

Commissioned San Francisco-born artist Velia De Iulis to

paint California Native  flowers on a wall that has a long

record of being regularly tagged with graffiti.

SOMA West Community Benefit 
District Mid-Year Report 2022

Streetscapes & Public Realm
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STREETSCAPES & PUBLIC REALM
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Streetscapes & Public Realm
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Hot Off the Press Mural by 1AM Projects

Sponsored mural by acclaimed neighborhood mural artists

1AM in collaboration with  The Box SF and SF parks

Alliance as part of the Moss Metamorphosis Project.



COMMUNITY EVENTS

16

Ringold Revival Event

Ringold Revival Block Party to celebrate the completion of maintenance with history  

tour with renowned historian Gayle Rubin, a caricature artist, boot blacking, and a  

artist boot auction to benefit the Leather Cultural District.

Moss Metamorphosis Community Block Party

In celebration of installation of lights, planting, and murals that have  

recently been completed as part of the SF Parks Alliance's Moss  

Metamorphosis, we hosted a gathering of neighbors and community  

members to enjoy the enhanced streetscape on Moss.

SOMA West Commu n ity  Benefit  District  Mid-Year Report 2022  

Commu n ity Events



COMMUNITY EVENTS

SOMA West Farmers MarketPlanning

Planning for the SOMA West Farmers Market Pilot ongoing. Location analysis,  

stakeholder and community engagement, vendor outreach, marketing and  

communications, and permitting all in preparation for a July 16th 2022 launch.  

The pilot program will run from July 16th -October 29th, 2022at Eagle Plaza.



SOMA Sings

Event with SOMA Pilipinas where Russ Street was closed to traffic for SOMA

Sings, a holiday event centered around music with the TNT Traysikel

Karaoke machine and the Holly Jolly Trolley, a cable car decked out with

holiday decorations and holiday carolers, in collaboration with SFOEWD.

SOMArts Gala

SOMA West CBD has sponsored events  

from our neighbors at SOMArts,  

supporting their endeavors to bring  

more people into the South of Market  

neighborhood through dynamic, exciting  

program highlighting diverse local  

artists. Most recently we sponsored their  

annual fundraising gala.

COMMUNITY EVENTS

SOMA West Community Benefit District Mid-Year Report 2022

Community Events
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Heron Arts

SOMA West CBD sponsored an event at  

Heron Arts featuring a dance performance  

choreographed for one of the artworks.

We look forward to partnering with them  in

the coming year!

Sockgiving

With the Support of the Sisters of Perpetual Indulgence and SF Cat 

Club,  donations of socks, beanies, and sanitary items were donated for

SOMA West  CBD's outreachefforts.

SOMA Second Saturdays

A monthly leather and kink craft fair that  

takes place at Eagle Plaza on Saturdays  after

the Farmers Market in partnership  with the

SF Leather and LGBTQ Cultural  District and

Folsom Street



Cleanup days on Russ and Moss Streets

Partnered with SOMA 

Pilipinas, SF Parks  

Alliance, partnered twice 

to host a  neighborhood 

cleaning around Russ and  

Moss Streets.

SOMA West Community Benefit District Mid-Year Report 2022

Community Events
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Sunday Streets Folsom

SOMA West CBD participated in the Sunday  

Streets SOMA - handing out flyers and  

surveys for the neighborhood, as well as  

meeting neighbors. SOMA West CBD also  

sponsored local food businesses to  

participate in Sunday Streets by covering  

the cost of Health Department Permitting.

COMMUNITY EVENTS

Moss Street Block Party

In partnership with SOMA Pilipinas and 

Parks  Alliance, a community block party with

live music,  performing arts, food vendors,

and play structures  for families, July 2021.



ADVOCACY
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Advocacy
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ADVOCACY ACTIVITIES BY SOMA WEST STAFF AND BOARD

• International Downtown Association  Federal Policy Committee Policy

Priorities:  Homelessness

• Economic Development and Placemaking  Housing

• Public Safety

• California Downtown Association  Our legislative voice in Sacramento  

San Francisco CBD Alliance

• City Hall policy reform

• SF Rail yards Project Community Advisory Committee  SOMA Community Advisory

Committee

• District Six Representation for the San Francisco Public Space  Advisory Committee (CBD 

Board Member)

• SOMArts Board

• Friends of Eagle Plaza Board  WalkSF



MARKETING &COMMUNICATIONS

District 360

SOMA West CBD took a big step in organizing our operations by getting the entire  

district's property data onto District360, a softwarebuilt on the Salesforceplatform.  

District360 brings all of our property, business, and stakeholder information into  

one system giving our team a 360-degreeview of all operations in SOMA West.

Monthly Newsletter

Weare continuing to produce a monthly newsletter that highlights our internal  

operations, City resources and announcements, neighborhood new, events, and  

more!

New Website

Development of a new website with Geocentric,who specialize in building beautiful  

websites for districts and corridors. We selected Geocentric because of their  

emphasis on celebrating the uniqueness of a place: highlighting small businesses,  

community organizations, and local events. Weaim to be a hub of information for  

SOMA residents and businesses, a space to learn about the neighborhood and  

support local businesses. The websitewas completed in spring of 2021.

SOMA West Community Benefit District Mid-Year Report 2022

Marketing & Communications
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MARKETING &COMMUNICATIONS
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SOMASAPIENS Film Series

SOMA Sapiens is a series of ongoing short films by Grant Thompson in partnership  

with SOMA West Community Benefit District that offers a snapshot of people’s lives  

in the South of Market neighborhood in San Francisco. We aim to celebrate and  

uplift the stories of the individuals that make this diverse neighborhood into a  

vibrant community.



J ames Spinello

President

Alex Ludlum

Vice President

Adam Mesnick, Deli Board (Small Business Owner)

Barry Synoground,  DNA Lounge (Small Business)

Beth Stokes,  Episcopal Community Services (Non-Profit Housing Organization)

Brandon McGanty, (Property Owner & Resident)

Brian Pepin, (Property Owner)

Carla Laurel,  West Bay Fil ipino Center (Community Organization)

DeeDee Crosset, San Francisco Institute of Esthetics and Cosmetology (Education)

Eric Lopez,  (Property Owner & Resident)

Harold Hoogasian,  Hoogasian Flowers (Small Business)

Henry Karni lowicz,  (Small Business Owner and Resident)

J ason Cinq-Mars, LGBTQ+Leather District (Cultural Organization)

Maria J enson,  SOMArts (Cultural Organization)

Randy Maupin, Cat Club (Small Business Owner and Resident)

Tim Figueras, (Resident)

Kevin Bixler,  (Property Owner & Resident)  

Lisa Creed, (Property Owner & Resident)  

Stuart  Coll ins, (Property Owner & Resident)  

Tova Lobatz,  (Cultural Organization)

Laura K udritzk i ,  (Small Business Owner)

J esse  Tepll , (Resident)

Patrick Eggan, (Resident)

Committees  

Executive

Safety & Services  

Nominations

Finance & Governance  

Neighborhood Identity

SOMA WEST CBD
BOARD MEMBERS

Ryan Dick

Secretary

Brendan Tobin

Treasurer

SOMA West Community Benefit District  Mid-Year Report 2022

29





2021/22
GAO 

Presentation
Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022



Website Launch Results

The first full fiscal year saw a 

143%
increase in users 

247% 
increase in pageviews from the 2020/21 fiscal year. 

Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 



Events & Holidays

▪ For Fleet Week 2021, FWCBD hosted a band at the Fisherman’s Wharf plaza and facilitated the command post, 
working closely with SFPD and the Academy of Arts to safely communicate in case of an emergency.

▪ The FWCBD partnered with a vendor to install Christmas lights on the Fisherman’s Wharf Sign, offering visitors 
the perfect Holiday photo destination.

▪ Due to COVID-19 and public safety concerns, Merry Time at the Wharf, our annual holiday event, was canceled.

▪ In March 2022, the FWCBD partnered with the head of San Francisco tourism, the Chamber of Commerce, and 8 
other civic entities in San Francisco to launch a “high-end” cannabis festival Evergreen San Francisco for guests 
looking for alternatives to Hippie Hill (more on next slide).

▪ In April 2022, the FWCBD partnered with KPFA, SF Public Library, Green Apple Books, and Seaweed for a special 
book signing event at the Fisherman’s Wharf plaza with one of San Francisco’s most renowned writers Alia Voltz, 
author of Home Baked: My Mom, Marijuana, and the Stoning of San Francisco.

Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 



Affiliate Marketing
Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 

▪ The District is funded through an annual assessment for 15 years from the property owners for both the Landside 
and Portside boundaries of the district. In 2021, the Portside CBD elected not to renew. The FWCBD Affiliate 
Program was relaunched in February 2022 to champion this financial setback by regaining those businesses on 
the Northside of Jefferson who still want to receive selected services from the FWCBD for a fee.  

▪ From February to June 2022, 15 new affiliates:

Pier 41 Location
Committed to Participate in 
May; Signed Up in August

Renewal



Advertising

▪ Received a $120,000 Google Grant for AdWords. This annual grant allows the FWCBD to create ad campaigns and 
boost its search ranking on Google, which is our top referral search engine. The FWCBD partnered with Nonprofit 
Megaphone to increase overall clicks and optimize Google Ads.

▪ This included 18 ads that generated 60,636 clicks, 599,854 impressions, and an average CTR of 10.11%.

▪ From July 2021 to June 2022, we ran two campaigns highlighting Fleet Week and the What's Up Wharf blog 
program for a total spend of $1,014.99.

▪ This included a paid reach of 96,507 people and 6,010 clicks, and 209,944 impressions.

Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 



Ambassador Program

▪ 7 days a week, the FWCBD Ambassadors help keep Fisherman's Wharf clean by sweeping the streets and power 
washing; removing graffiti and stickers; and collecting trash.

▪ Cleaning Highlights:

▪ Pounds of Trash Collected 28,890

▪ Graffiti & Stickers Removed 5,547

▪ Pan & Broom Block Faces Swept 14,815

▪ Sidewalk Outreach 2,854

▪ Street Furniture Cleaned 4,009

▪ Painting Projects Completed 494

Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 



Financials
Jul. 1, 2021 – Jun. 30, 2022 



Thank You! 



2021-2022 Annual Report



The Lower Polk CBD encompasses 22 whole or partial 
blocks on lower Polk street. It is a diverse and 
challenging District, due to its proximity to the 
Tenderloin, and to the high traffic Van Ness corridor. 

The tail end of the pandemic continued to be 
challenging, yet the members of our local, diverse, and 
active Board of Directors continued to collectively 
demonstrate outstanding leadership and commitment 
to our unique and vibrant District.



Cleaning: We continued to increase District cleaning and sanitizing public fixtures, train staff on personal 
protective equipment (PPE) use, and provide business support services to merchants and renters affected 
by the pandemic.

Business support: We transitioned our placemaking and arts program from an events and arts focus to a 
business support activation focus to support businesses facing COVID-19 losses and impacts.   As FY 21-22 
regulations shifted and the LPCBD assisted businesses in keeping up in an ever changing regulatory 
environment. 

Community engagement: We continued to serve on the Lower Polk Neighbors stakeholder group, the 
Lower Polk TAY Navigation Center CAC, and the San Francisco Community Benefit District Consortium.

In 2021-2022:



Elected new board members, new officers and community chairs. Renewed the terms 
of current board members.

Kept up with new developments in the Lower Polk District, including the post-
pandemic shift to hybrid and remote work, and their effect on quality of life and other 

issues.  The district has been negatively impacted and the nightlife economy has 
suffered, and the LPCBD has shifted resources accordingly. 

Stayed involved in leadership positions with many community and City organizations, 
including Lower Polk Neighbors and the Lower Polk TAY Navigation Center CAC, 

among others.



With respect to finance and fund development:

Completed our organizational annual audit and received an unmodified opinion, 
which shows approval.

Prepared budget projections, taking into account the changing economic landscape 
of San Francisco.

Reviewed our organizational investments and insurance.



Continued to provide regular cleaning and maintenance services throughout the District, with a 
focus on keeping public spaces clean and safe.

Expanded the LPCBD Ambassador Clean Team to meet the increased needs of the District.

Implemented new performance measures and goals for neighborhood cleanliness.

Hired a contracted pressure washing/steam company to clean the district in its entirety and 
specific areas as needed. 

We Continued To:



Worked closely with the San Francisco Police Department and the Department of Homelessness and 
Supportive Housing to address issues around quality of life and safety, including homelessness and 
drug use. 

Brought the OEWD-funded Hospitality Ambassador team on board during Q3 and Q4.

Provided funding for presence at Sgt. Macaulay park to provide both a safety/stewardship presence at 
the park and resources for individuals experiencing homelessness and other social service needs. 

Participated in multiple neighborhood safety and security groups to discuss and take action on issues 
and trends, with a special focus on the safety and condition of alleyways.

We Continued To:



Collaborate with the Department of Public Health to address homelessness and the 
neighborhood street population.

Continued to operate the award-winning Lower Polk Tenant Landlord Clinic, which 
helps landlords, small merchants and tenants resolve issues that may lead to tenant 
or merchant displacement.

Advocated to city Departments and Elected Officials and others for needs of the 
District.  

We Continued To:



The Lower Polk Tenant 
Landlord Clinic (TLC) is a unique 
interdisciplinary program 
designed to keep residential 
tenants and small businesses 
stably sited. It works with 
people who live in the Lower 
Polk or surrounding areas, or 
operate a small business in the 
Lower Polk or surrounding 
areas. 

Its coalition members include 
the Bar Association of San 
Francisco and UC Hastings.





Note: Our AR is late because 
of delayed completion of our 
financial statements and the 
subsequent audit. This 
unexpected delay was set in 
motion due to a significant 
late
billing for the fiscal year by a 
Lower Polk Tenant Landlord 
Clinic subcontractor. This
unexpected delay had a 
cascading effect on all our 
end-of-year processes.





San Francisco 
Government Audit & 
Oversight Committee 
(GAO) 
Union Square Alliance Fiscal Year 2021 – 2022
February 1, 2024

Marisa Rodriguez, Union Square Alliance



Introduction

GAO Presentation

The Alliance oversees a 27-block area surrounding 
Union Square Park in the heart of San Francisco. It is 
generally boarded on the north by Bush Street, on 
the east by Kearny Street, on the south by Market 
Street and on the west by Taylor Street. 

The Union Square Alliance (formerly known as the 
Union Square Business Improvement District) serves 
members and creates a high visitor experience by 
managing and activating public spaces, attracting 
new investment, and advocating for the District’s 

future success.

Mission



Assessment Methodology 21-22

GAO Presentation

Assessments based on the following variables

▪ Linear (sidewalk) frontage 

▪ Lot square footage

▪ Building square footage

▪ Type of land use

▪ Zone

▪ Total Assessments in 21-22 FY 
$6.3millon 



Cleaning & Safety Services
Clean and Safe services include a 24/7 staffed 
dispatch hotline, round the clock cleaning staff, 
ambassadors and overnight security

GAO Presentation

New services programs:

▪ Miracle Messages

▪ SFPD Community 
Ambassador 
Program

▪ New Leadership
▪ 24/7 Member Services

▪ Union Square 
Plaza Services

▪ Additional Security    
Cameras 

▪ Legion Security and 
Patrol Vehicle 



Presentation Title #



District Marketing 
We educate the community about the 
Alliance and promote Union Square 
as a world class destination

GAO Presentation

▪ New Leadership

▪ Website redesign

▪ Union Square Dance & Music Series

▪ Union Square in Bloom 

▪ Ad Campaigns 

▪ Social Media Strategy

Accounts are @UnionSquareSF on 
Facebook, Instagram, Twitter and 
LinkedIn          



Public Realm & Streetscapes
We create an active and attractive public realm by activating 
public spaces with food, art, entertainment

GAO Presentation

▪ Lantern Project

▪ Maiden Lane

▪ Permanent Lighting

▪ BloomSF

▪ Hallidie Plaza

▪ Ornament Project



Advocacy
l

We advocate for clean, safe, attractive, and 
vibrant Union Square 
to City officials and stakeholders

GAO Presentation

▪ Retail Summits
▪ Mobile Command Center
▪ Powell Street Promenade
▪ Economic Recovery Grant



GAO Presentation

Marisa Rodriguez 
named the new 
Executive Director, 
Union Square Alliance 
October 2021



Thank You
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TOURISM IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
2021 – 2022 



TOURISM IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

Convention Sales

• Meetings and Conventions generated over 850 meetings (7 
Moscone Events) with $222.2 million in direct spending

• Sales team booked over 641,700 rooms nights in 2021 for 
all future years

• Attended 72 virtual meetings and 18 in-person meetings

Marketing and Promotion 

• Leisure visitors compromised 81% of all visitors

• The Visitor Information Center is closed due to lack of 
funding.

SFTIDMC ANNUAL REPORT



TOURISM IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

MARKETING EFFORTS

• 17.0 Million Visitors

• 1.2 billion media impressions which equates to more 
than $96+ million in value

• www.sftravel.com

• 3.1 million unique visitors

• $106.9 million in economic impact

• Instagram @onlyinSF 295,000 followers

• Twitter @onlyinSF 201,000 followers

• Facebook @onyinSF 698,000 followers

SFTIDMC ANNUAL REPORT



MOSCONE EXPANSION DISTRICT
2021 – 2022 



MOSCONE EXPANSION DISTRICT

• $551+ million-dollar expansion and renovation 
continues to be front and center for attracting 
new and repeat business to San Francisco.  The 
center is much more competitive in total space 
and meeting planner accommodations related to 
set-up and configuration

• Moscone Center preparing for the upcoming MPI 
(Meeting Professionals International) Western 
Conference in June 2022.   Over 2000 planners 
and suppliers attended this prestigious event.

SFTIDMC ANNUAL REPORT



MOSCONE EXPANSION DISTRICT

Moscone Expansion Incentive Fund Balance as 
of June 30, 2022 | $1,047,743

• Used to attract new clients

• Retain current clients during Moscone shut-
down due to Covd-19 and into the future

SFTIDMC ANNUAL REPORT



SF GAO: 2/1/24 for FY 21-22



43-blocks serving the Financial District & Jackson Square
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MISSION: We lead the 

way in building a thriving 

downtown where business 

gets done, people feel 

welcome, come to explore, 

and make memories.



Our Vision: Downtown San Francisco is an economic 

powerhouse and historic core, redefining what makes our 

city vibrant, resilient, and welcoming.

Started: January 2020

Term: 15 years (2034)

Budget: $4.4M

Staff: 7 FTEs

Clean & Safe Team: 30

Board of Directors: 15A
B
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Front Street & Halleck Alley
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Clean & Safe Metrics
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Fast Company’s  Pandemic Innovation Award
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1,900 sq ft mural by Claudio Talavera Ballon
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Bastille on Belden increased business by 20%
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The largest projection arts festival in the U.S.



• Implementation of the Public Realm 

Action Plan

• Additional Events & Activations

• Enhanced Cleaning & Safety 

Services

• Economic Development Program
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Robbie Silver | rsilver@downtownsf.org

Executive Director, Downtown SF Partnership

THANK YOU!




